LOGARITHMIC ABELIAN VARIETIES, PART VII: MODULI

By

Takeshi Kajiwara, Kazuya Kato and Chikara Nakayama

Dedicated to Professor Luc Illusie

(Received September 17, 2020; Revised March 8, 2021)

Abstract. We construct the fine moduli space of log abelian varieties, which gives a compactification of the moduli space of abelian varieties.

Contents

- §1. Moduli functors
- §2. Principal polarization
- §3. Universal additive extension
- §4. Deformation of log abelian varieties
- §5. Some related functors
- §6. Artin's criterion
- §7. Representability of moduli functors
- §8. Valuative criterion
- §9. Toroidal compactifications

Introduction

This part is the most important in our series of papers on log abelian varieties. We construct the fine moduli space of principally polarized log abelian varieties with level structure and a prescribed admissible degeneration, and show that this moduli space is isomorphic to a toroidal compactification of the moduli space of principally polarized abelian varieties with level structure. Our moduli space is obtained as a part of the moduli space without prescription of degeneration, which is a log algebraic space in the second sense.

More precisely, we prove the following (1), (2), and (3).

- (1) The moduli functor of g-dimensional principally polarized log abelian varieties with level n structure is represented by a proper and log smooth log algebraic space over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ $(n \ge 3)$ in the second sense (Theorem 1.6).
- (2) The moduli functor of g-dimensional principally polarized log abelian varieties with level n structure and with local monodromies in a prescribed admissible cone decomposition Σ is represented by a proper and log smooth algebraic space with fs log structure over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ $(n \geq 3)$ (Theorem 1.7).
- (3) The space in (2) (essentially) coincides with the toroidal compactification ([5]) endowed with a natural log structure of the moduli space of g-dimensional principally polarized abelian varieties with level n structure associated with local monodromies in Σ (Theorem 1.8).

An important new instrument in this part of series of papers is the theory of deformations of log abelian varieties. Like the other theories on log abelian varieties, this is also parallel to the corresponding classical theory of abelian varieties (see, for example, Proposition 4.1), which reflects the remarkable feature of log abelian varieties that they are some kind of degenerations of abelian varieties but still behave as proper smooth group objects without degeneration.

We are strongly influenced by the pioneering work by K. Fujiwara [6]. In fact, the prototypes of all our results and techniques of proofs can be found in his paper.

For other compactifications of the moduli space of abelian varieties, see [1], [21], [24].

In Section 1, we describe main results. In Section 2, we show some results on principal polarizations. In Section 3, we introduce universal additive extensions of log abelian varieties and prove some basic facts. In Section 4, using them, we discuss the deformation of log abelian varieties. After some preliminaries in Section 5, the core of the proof is an application of Artin's criterion to our moduli functor in Section 6. We prove (1) and (2) in Section 7 except properness of our moduli spaces. In Section 8, we prove the properness. Finally, we prove (3) in Section 9. We also include several corrections to former parts in this series of papers.

Acknowledgement. The first author is partially supported by JSPS, Kakenhi (C) No. 24540035, Kakenhi (C) No. 15K04811, and Kakenhi (C) No. 20K03555. The second author is partially supported by NFS grants DMS 1303421, DMS 1601861, and DMS 2001182. The third author is partially supported by JSPS, Kakenhi (C) No. 22540011, Kakenhi (B) No. 23340008, Kakenhi (C) No. 16K05093, and Kakenhi (C) No. 21K03199.

1. Moduli functors

In this section, we state our main results.

Fix an integer $g \geq 1$ and a finitely generated free abelian group W of rank g. Let $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ be the \mathbb{Q} -vector space of symmetric bilinear forms $W \times W \to \mathbb{Q}$.

- **1.1 DEFINITION.** (Cf. [5, Chapter IV, Definition 2.2].) An admissible cone decomposition (or an admissible fan) Σ of $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ is a set of finitely generated (sharp) \mathbb{Q} -cones in $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ satisfying the following conditions:
 - (1) For $\sigma \in \Sigma$, every face of σ is in Σ ;
 - (2) For $\sigma, \tau \in \Sigma$, the intersection $\sigma \cap \tau$ is a face of σ ;
- (3) Σ is stable under the action of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}}(W)$. Here $\alpha \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}}(W)$ acts on $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ by $b \mapsto b(\alpha(\cdot), \alpha(\cdot))$;
 - (4) The number of the $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}}(W)$ -orbits in Σ is finite;
- (5) For any $\sigma \in \Sigma$, any element of σ is positive semi-definite, i.e., $b(w, w) \geq 0$ for any $b \in \sigma$ and any $w \in W$;
- (6) For each positive semi-definite symmetric bilinear form $b: W \times W \to \mathbb{R}$, there exists a unique $\sigma \in \Sigma$ for which b is contained in the interior of $\sigma \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{>0}} \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$.
- **1.1.1 REMARK.** (1) The last two conditions in Definition 1.1 can be replaced with the condition that the support $\bigcup_{\sigma \in \Sigma} \sigma$ of Σ is equal to the set of all positive semi-definite symmetric bilinear forms.
- (2) It is known that an admissible cone decomposition of W exists by the reduction theory (cf. [7], [22] 8.5).
- **1.2.** Recall that a polarization on a weak log abelian variety A over an fs log scheme S is a symmetric biextension of the pair (A, A) by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ whose pullback to \overline{s} for any $s \in S$ is induced by a polarization on the log 1-motif corresponding to $A \times_S \overline{s}$ ([13] 1.3).

We say that a polarization is *principal* if for any $s \in S$, it induces an isomorphism from $A \times_S \overline{s}$ to its dual. (The dual of a weak log abelian variety with constant degeneration is defined in [13] 1.2.)

We now define a principally polarized log abelian variety of degeneration along an admissible fan as follows.

1.3 DEFINITION. Let Σ be an admissible cone decomposition of $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$, and A a principally polarized log abelian variety of dimension g over an fs log scheme S. We say that the *local monodromies of* A are in Σ , or A is compatible with Σ , or A is of degeneration along Σ , if strict étale locally on S, there exists a surjective homomorphism $f: W \to \overline{Y}$ satisfying the following condition: for any $s \in S$,

there exists a $\sigma \in \Sigma$ such that, for any homomorphism $h: (M_S/\mathcal{O}_S^{\times})_{\overline{s}} \to \mathbb{N}$, the composition

$$W \times W \stackrel{f \times f}{\to} \overline{Y}_{\overline{s}} \times \overline{Y}_{\overline{s}} \stackrel{\phi \times \mathrm{id}}{\to} \overline{X}_{\overline{s}} \times \overline{Y}_{\overline{s}} \stackrel{\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle}{\to} (M_S^{\mathrm{gp}}/\mathcal{O}_S^{\times})_{\overline{s}} \stackrel{h^{\mathrm{gp}}}{\to} \mathbb{Z}$$

is contained in σ . Here $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \colon \overline{X} \times \overline{Y} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ is the canonical pairing of \mathbb{Z} -modules determined by A ([10] 4.4) and $\phi \colon \overline{Y}_{\overline{s}} \to \overline{X}_{\overline{s}}$ is the homomorphism defined by the polarization.

- **1.4 DEFINITION.** Let n be an integer ≥ 1 . Let S be an fs log scheme over Spec $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$. Let A be a log abelian variety over S of dimension g. A level n structure of A is an isomorphism $(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})^{2g} \stackrel{\cong}{\to} \operatorname{Ker}(n:A \to A)$.
- **1.5 DEFINITION.** Let n be an integer ≥ 1 . We define a moduli functor

$$F_{q,n}\colon (\mathrm{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])\to (\mathrm{set})$$

and a moduli functor

$$F_{g,n,\Sigma} \colon (\mathrm{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n]) \to (\mathrm{set})$$

for an admissible cone decomposition Σ of $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ as follows. For an object U of $(\mathrm{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$, we set

- $F_{g,n}(U) := \{g \text{-dimensional principally polarized log abelian variety over } U$ with level n structure $\}/\cong$;
- $F_{g,n,\Sigma}(U) := \{g\text{-dimensional principally polarized log abelian variety over } U$ with level n structure and with local monodromies in $\Sigma\}/\cong$.

The following three theorems are the main results of this series of papers.

1.6 THEOREM. If $n \geq 3$, the moduli functor $F_{g,n}$ is represented by a proper and log smooth log algebraic space over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ in the second sense ([12] 10.1).

This was partially mentioned in [12] 10.6. Here a log algebraic space in the second sense is said to be $log \ smooth$ if it admits a log smooth cover, i.e., we can take a log smooth F' in the definition in [12] 10.1. For the definition of the properness, see [12] 17.3.

1.7 THEOREM. If $n \geq 3$, the moduli functor $F_{g,n,\Sigma}$ is represented by a proper and log smooth log algebraic space over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ in the first sense ([12] 10.1), that is, it is an algebraic space with fs log structure over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$, and it is proper and log smooth.

- **1.8 THEOREM.** If n > 3 and Σ is smooth, a connected component of the base change of the space representing the functor $F_{q,n,\Sigma}$ in Theorem 1.7 to $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_n][1/n]$, where ζ_n is the primitive nth root of unity, coincides with the toroidal compactification $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$ associated to Σ ([5]) of the moduli space $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$ of principally polarized abelian varieties with level n structure, endowed with the fs log structure defined by the divisor $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{q,n} - \mathcal{A}_{q,n}$.
- 1.9. We explain the relationship between these theorems. Roughly speaking, Theorem 1.6 except properness is deduced from Theorem 1.7 except properness. But the properness of $F_{g,n,\Sigma}$ in Theorem 1.7 is deduced from that of $F_{g,n}$ in Theorem 1.6. As for Theorems 1.7 and 1.8, it is possible to prove Theorem 1.8 first using the theory of Faltings-Chai ([5]) and deduce Theorem 1.7 by checking some properties of $F_{q,n,\Sigma}$ (cf. the second last paragraph of 9.3), as we did in the one-dimensional case [11]. But, below, we prove Theorem 1.7 first without the use of [5], and deduce Theorem 1.8 from it.
- 1.10. We hope that the theory of log abelian varieties works for variants such as PEL-type moduli problems, compactifications over \mathbb{Z} , $X_0(N)$ -type moduli problems, moduli stacks for n=1,2, and so on. In particular, in a forthcoming paper, we plan to throw the coefficient rings to the above three theorems so that the resulting space in the generalized version of Theorem 1.7 gives a moduli interpretation of the space constructed in [18]. See also [11] Section 6.

2. Principal polarization

We give some propositions on principal polarizations, which will be used later.

- **2.1.** Let S be an fs log scheme. Consider $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ on $(\mathrm{fs}/S)_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$. Let $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}$ be the vertical part of it, that is, the subgroup sheaf of $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ consisting of the sections x satisfying the following condition: There are $a, b \in M_S^{gp}$ such that a|x|b, that is, both $a^{-1}x$ and $x^{-1}b$ belong to $M \subset \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$.
- **2.2 Lemma.** Let A be a weak log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S.
 - (1) $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}}) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}}.$ (2) $\mathcal{H}om(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}}) = 0.$

Proof. By [13] Lemma 3.1, (2) is reduced to (1).

We prove (1). This is an analogue of a part of [13] Proposition 2.1 and proved similarly as follows.

First, to prove the case where A is with constant degeneration, we use an

analogue of [10] Proposition 7.9 (2). That is, in the situation there, we have

$$f_U^{-1}(M_{V(\Delta')_U}^{\mathrm{gp}}/M_{V(\Delta')_U}^{\mathrm{gp,vert}}) \cong (M_U^{\mathrm{gp}}/\mathcal{O}_U^{\times} \oplus \overline{X})/(\mathrm{the\ vertical\ part}),$$

where U is any fs log scheme over S, $M_{V(\Delta')_U}^{\rm gp,vert}$ is the restriction of $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\rm vert}$ to the small étale site of $V(\Delta')_U$, "(the vertical part)" is the subsheaf of $M_U^{\rm gp}/\mathcal{O}_U^{\times} \oplus \overline{X}$ consisting of the sections sent into $M_{V(\Delta')_U}^{\rm gp,vert}$. But, since any interior element of \mathcal{S} is an interior element of Δ'^{\vee} (still in the notation there), $\Delta'^{\vee} \cdot \mathcal{S}^{\rm gp} = C^{\rm gp}$ contains X so that X is always included in the vertical part. Thus the right-hand-side coincides with $M_U^{\rm gp}/M_U^{\rm gp,vert}$, where $M_U^{\rm gp,vert}$ is the restriction of $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\rm vert}$ to $U_{\text{\'et}}$. Using this, in the notation of [13] 6.4, we can show

$$g_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}.$$

Hence, for any U over S, we have

$$H^0(A_U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}) = H^0(Y, H^0(B_U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}})) = H^0(U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}})$$

in the notation in [13] 6.4, which completes the proof of the case of constant degeneration.

In the general case, the zero section induces a surjection $H^0(A_U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}})$ $\to H^0(U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}})$. To reduce the injectivity of this surjection to the case of constant degeneration, it is sufficient to show that $H^0(A_U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}}) \to \prod_{u \in U} H^0(A_u, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}})$ is injective. We can replace A_U here with any fs log scheme over it. Then the injectivity follows.

- **2.3 REMARK.** In the proof of the statement $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ which is a part of [13] Proposition 2.1, the corresponding reduction step to the case of the constant degeneration contains a rather inadequate explanation (cf. the first paragraph in [13] Proposition 12.1). A correct argument is the one in the proof of the above lemma.
- **2.4 PROPOSITION.** Let A be a weak log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S. Any strict fppf locally given principal polarization with descent data gives a unique principal polarization on A.

Proof. Note that this is easy if $\mathcal{B}iext(A, A; \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ is an fppf sheaf, but we have not yet proved that it is so.

We reduce to the descent of an extension of A by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ as follows.

The data give a homomorphism fppf locally

$$A \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$$

by [13] Proposition 2.3. It is enough to show that the image E of any section of A by this homomorphism with the descent data can be uniquely descended.

First, we claim that E as an extension comes from a unique extension E' of A by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}$.

This claim is proved as follows. Since $\mathcal{H}om(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m^{\text{vert}}) = 0$ (Lemma 2.2 (2)), we have the commutative diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}})$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \parallel$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$$

with exact rows. Hence, it is enough to show that the image of E in $\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)$ comes from $\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m)$. By [13] Proposition 1.6 (1) and [13] 2.7, this image comes from $\mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)/\overline{X}$ by the composite

$$\mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)/\overline{X} \to \mathcal{E}xt(A/G, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m) \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m),$$

where the first arrow is the injection in [13] Lemma 2.6 (2). Here the notation is as in there. Further it comes from $\mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(\overline{X})}/\overline{X}$ because it is so at each fiber.

Since the above composite is compatible with another composite

$$\mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m)/\overline{X} \to \mathcal{E}xt(A/G, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m) \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m),$$

to complete the proof of the claim, it is sufficient to show

$$\mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y},\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(\overline{X})}\subset \mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y},\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m).$$

Let $\varphi \colon \overline{Y} \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ be in the (X)-part. Then for $y \in \overline{Y}$ in each fiber, there exist $x_1, x_2 \in \overline{X}$ such that $\langle x_1, y \rangle | \varphi(y) | \langle x_2, y \rangle$. Since $\langle x_i, y \rangle$ (i = 1, 2) are in the log of the base, this implies that $\varphi(y) \in \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}$. Hence we see that φ factors through $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m$, as desired.

Let \widetilde{E}' be the extension of \widetilde{A} by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}$ induced by our E'. Since the composite

$$\mathcal{H}om(\overline{Y}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m)/\overline{X} \to \mathcal{E}xt(A/G, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m) \to \mathcal{E}xt(\widetilde{A}/G, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m)$$

is zero, \widetilde{E}' induces the trivial extension of \widetilde{A} by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m$. Fix a splitting of this trivial extension and identify the total space of this extension with the product $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}/\mathbb{G}_m \times \widetilde{A}$.

It is enough to descend E'. We can do it similarly as in the case of A itself (cf. [12] Section 9). We may assume that a prime ℓ is invertible on the base. We cover \tilde{E}' with respect to the két topology by the images with respect to the multiplication by ℓ^n $(n \geq 0)$ of a representable object explained below. Then

as in the same way as in the case of A (cf. [12] Section 9), we descend \widetilde{E}' by descending this representable object with a partial group law, we descend the kernel of $\widetilde{E}' \to E'$, and we divide \widetilde{E}' by the kernel to obtain the descended E'. The representable object we use is as follows. Let I be a model of \widetilde{A} with respect to a wide cone (as in [12] Section 9). Let a be an interior in the log of the base. Let L be the part of $\mathbb{G}^{\text{vert}}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ consisting of x such that $a^{-1}|x|a$. Consider the inverse image in \widetilde{E}' of $L \times I$. Then it is representable. We explain the representability. Assume that A = S. Then the inverse image of L in $\mathbb{G}^{\text{vert}}_{m,\log}$ is represented by the fs log scheme defined as the fiber product of

$$S \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{N}]) \leftarrow \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{N}^2]),$$

where the first morphism sends $1 \in \mathbb{N}$ to a^2 in M_S , and the second morphism is induced by the diagonal homomorphism $\mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}^2$. The representability in the general case follows from this.

- **2.5 REMARK.** (1) The final portion of the above proof can be regarded as a generalization of the argument with models for a log abelian variety in [12] to that for a kind of log semiabelian variety. Though we even have not yet defined a log semiabelian variety, the theory of (proper-like or quasiprojective) models of a log semiabelian variety should be an important subject to study.
- (2) In [12] Section 9, Lemma 9.10 and Lemma 9.11 are not essential. In fact, in [12] 9.12, we may assume that the conditions (5)–(7) are satisfied only by replacing the index λ .
- **2.6 PROPOSITION.** Let $(S_{\lambda})_{\lambda}$ be a filtered projective system of quasicompact and quasiseparated fs log schemes whose transition morphisms are affine and strict. Let $S := \varprojlim S_{\lambda}$. For a principally polarized log abelian variety (A, p) over S_{λ} there are an index λ and a principally polarized log abelian variety $(A_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda})$ over S_{λ} whose pullback to S is isomorphic to (A, p).

Further, for some λ and two principally polarized log abelian varieties over S_{λ} whose pullbacks to S are isomorphic to each other, there is another index $\lambda \to \lambda'$ such that their pullbacks to $S_{\lambda'}$ are already isomorphic to each other.

Proof. By [12] Proposition 9.2, we may assume that A over S comes from an essentially unique weak log abelian variety A_{λ} over some S_{λ} . The problem is to spread out p. (We mean that there exist an essentially unique principal polarization on A_{λ} for a sufficiently large λ whose pullback coincides with p.) This is shown by the same method in the proof of the previous proposition.

First, we can replace $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\text{vert}}$ in $\text{Biext}(A, A; \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$. In fact, by the claim in the proof of Proposition 2.4, the polarization lives in $\text{Hom}(A, \mathcal{E}xt(A, A; \mathbb{G}_m))$

 $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}$)). Since $\mathrm{Hom}(A,\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}}) \subset \mathrm{Hom}(A,\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) = 0$ ([13] Proposition 2.1 and [13] Lemma 3.1), we have $\mathrm{Hom}(A,\mathcal{E}xt(A,\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}})) = \mathrm{Biext}(A,A;\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{\mathrm{vert}})$ by [13] Lemma 3.4.

Second, we consider the representable object induced by $L \times I \times I$ in the notation in the proof of Proposition 2.4. Then we can spread out the biextension with partial group laws in the same way. To prove that the biextension on S_{λ} is a principal polarization for a sufficiently large λ , we may assume that the biextension on S_{λ} is symmetric. Further, we may assume that there is a chart of S_{λ} . Then, by dividing S_{λ} into a finite number of constant log loci, we may assume that S_{λ} has the constant log. Hence we can replace the log abelian variety concerned with the corresponding log 1-motif $[Y \to G_{\log}]$. Then, it is enough to show that the corresponding homomorphism $[Y \to G_{\log}] \to [Y \to G_{\log}]$ is an isomorphism over S_{λ} for a sufficiently large λ when its pullback to S is an isomorphism. It is valid because Y is a locally constant sheaf and the homomorphism $G_{\log} \to G_{\log}$ comes from a homomorphism $G \to G$ ([10] Proposition 2.5).

- **2.7 REMARK.** We have not yet had the property of local finite presentation for nonkét $\mathcal{B}iext$. If it is the case, we can use it. Or, if we had the general theory of duals for a weak log abelian variety not necessarily with constant degeneration, the proposition follows from [12] Proposition 9.2 (1).
- **2.8 PROPOSITION.** Let A be a weak log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S. Then the homomorphism $A \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ induced by a principal polarization on A ([13] Proposition 2.3) is injective.

To prove this, we need a lemma, which also will be used in later sections.

2.9 LEMMA. Let S be an fs log scheme, A_1 and A_2 weak log abelian varieties over S with constant degeneration, f and g homomorphisms from A_1 to A_2 . If $f_{\overline{s}} = g_{\overline{s}}$ for any $s \in S$, then f = g.

Proof. Let $M_i = [Y_i \to G_{i,\log}]$ be a log 1-motif over S corresponding to A_i for i = 1, 2. It suffices to prove that a homomorphism $M_1 \to M_2$ whose pullback to \overline{s} is zero for any $s \in S$ is zero. The homomorphism consists of a homomorphism $Y_1 \to Y_2$ and that of $G_{1,\log} \to G_{2,\log}$. The former is zero because Y_i are locally constant for i = 1, 2. The latter is induced by a homomorphism $G_1 \to G_2$ by [10] Proposition 2.5, which induces a homomorphism of the torus parts and the abelian parts. The homomorphism of the torus parts is zero because the corresponding homomorphism of the character groups is so. The homomorphism of the abelian parts is also zero. Since there is no nontrivial homomorphism from

the abelian part of G_1 to the torus part of G_2 , we conclude that the homomorphism $G_1 \to G_2$ is zero. Hence the homomorphism of $M_1 \to M_2$ is zero.

2.10. We prove Proposition 2.8. By Proposition 2.6, we may assume that the base is finitely generated over \mathbb{Z} .

It is enough to prove that for any fs log scheme U over the base, the homomorphism $A(U) \to \operatorname{Ext}(A_U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ is injective.

First, $\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ is locally of finite type. This is by [13] Proposition 12.8 (1) and the fact that $\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \to \mathcal{E}xt_{\mathrm{k\acute{e}t}}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ is injective. The last fact is seen as follows. Since both A and $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ are két sheaves ([12] Theorem 5.1 and [16] Theorem 3.2), any extension on the étale site is a két sheaf, too. Hence the splitting on the két site gives a splitting on the étale site.

On the other hand, A is locally of finite presentation by [13] Proposition 12.7. Hence, we may assume that U is finitely generated over \mathbb{Z} .

Since A is locally of finite type, we can replace U with the strict localization at each point. Again by that A is locally of finite type and by Artin's approximation theorem, we can replace U with a complete noetherian local ring. Here we have the GAGF for $H^0(U, A)$, that is the algebraization of the sections, which can be proved by taking a model. By it, we further replace U with an Artin local ring so that we may assume that A is with constant degeneration ([10] Theorem 4.6 (2)).

Thus, it is enough to show the proposition under the additional assumption that A is with constant degeneration. We denote by A^* the dual of A. In this case, $A \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ factors through $f: A \to A^*$, where A^* is identified with a subgroup of $\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ by [10] Remark 7.5 (2). By the assumption, $f_{\overline{s}}$ is an isomorphism for any $s \in S$. Then, f is an isomorphism by Lemma 2.9 as desired.

3. Universal additive extension

We introduce the universal additive extension of a log abelian variety and will use it for the study of the deformation of log abelian variety in the next section. See [19] for a log elliptic curve case (though the definition of log elliptic curve in [19] is different from ours).

3.1. We define the Lie sheaf Lie(A) and coLie sheaf coLie(A). Let S be an fs log scheme.

In general, for a group sheaf G on $(fs/S)_{\text{\'et}}$, we define the Lie sheaf Lie (G) on

 $(fs/S)_{\text{\'et}}$ by

$$\operatorname{Lie}(G)(U) = \operatorname{Ker}(G(U[\varepsilon]/(\varepsilon^2)) \to G(U)),$$

where $U[\varepsilon]/(\varepsilon^2)$ denotes the fs log scheme whose underlying space is that of U, whose structure sheaf is $\mathcal{O}_U[\varepsilon]/(\varepsilon^2)$ and whose log structure is the pullback of that of U.

We have a natural action of \mathcal{O}_S on Lie (G) (cf. [9] 1.3.11). In many cases, Lie (G) is an \mathcal{O}_S -module via this action. For example, we have Lie $(\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) = \text{Lie}(\mathbb{G}_m) = \mathbb{G}_a$.

3.2. If A is a weak log abelian variety over S, Lie (A) is a locally free \mathcal{O}_S -module of rank dim(A) because it coincides with the Lie sheaf of the semiabelian part. Let

$$\operatorname{coLie}(A) = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_S}(\operatorname{Lie}(A), \mathcal{O}_S),$$

which is also a locally free \mathcal{O}_S -module of rank dim(A).

- **3.3.** We introduce the dual of A in case where A is principally polarized. In the rest of this section, we assume that A is principally polarized unless explicitly stated otherwise. We denote by A^* the image of $A \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ and call it the dual of A. By Proposition 2.8, A^* is isomorphic to A. We identify A^* with A via this isomorphism.
- **3.4 PROPOSITION.** Let A be a principally polarized log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S. Then

$$\operatorname{coLie}(A^*) \cong \operatorname{\mathcal{E}xt}(A, \mathbb{G}_a)^* := \operatorname{\mathcal{H}om}(\operatorname{\mathcal{E}xt}(A, \mathbb{G}_a), \mathbb{G}_a)$$

and it is a vector bundle of rank $\dim A$.

Proof. The map $A^* \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ induces a map

$$\operatorname{Lie}(A^*) \to \operatorname{Lie}(\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})) \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \operatorname{Lie}(\mathbb{G}_{m,\log})) = \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a).$$

It is enough to show that it is an isomorphism.

First we prove it under the assumption that A is with constant degeneration. By [10] Theorem 7.3 (1), the exact sequence (the notation is as usual as in there)

(1)
$$0 \to T_{\log}^{(Y)} \to \widetilde{A} \to B \to 0$$

yields isomorphisms $\mathcal{H}om(\widetilde{A}, \mathbb{G}_a) = 0$ and $\mathcal{E}xt(\widetilde{A}, \mathbb{G}_a) = \mathcal{E}xt(B, \mathbb{G}_a)$. Together with an exact sequence

$$(2) 0 \to Y \to \widetilde{A} \to A \to 0,$$

we have an exact sequence

$$(3) 0 \to \mathcal{H}om(Y, \mathbb{G}_a) \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a) \to \mathcal{E}xt(B, \mathbb{G}_a) \to 0.$$

Hence $\mathcal{E}xt(A,\mathbb{G}_a)$ is a vector bundle of the desired rank.

Further, from (2), we have $\operatorname{Lie}(A) = \operatorname{Lie}(\widetilde{A})$. Together with (1), we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(T) \to \operatorname{Lie}(A) \to \operatorname{Lie}(B) \to 0.$$

Hence we have a commutative diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Lie}(T^*) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Lie}(A^*) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Lie}(B^*) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}om(Y, \mathbb{G}_a) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt(B, \mathbb{G}_a) \longrightarrow 0$$

with exact rows. Since the left and the right vertical arrows are isomorphisms, the middle one is also, which completes the case of constant degeneration.

To prove the general case, by Proposition 2.6, we may assume that S is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . It suffices to show that $\text{Lie}(A^*)(U) \to \text{Ext}(A_U, \mathbb{G}_a)$ is bijective for any fs log scheme U over S.

We may assume that we are given the usual data by which we can discuss models. (See [13] 4.5. It is always the case after going strict étale locally over the base S.) We prove the case where U is the spectrum of a complete noetherian local ring (R, m). Consider the diagram

$$\operatorname{Lie}(A^*)(U) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}(A_U, \mathbb{G}_a) \\
\downarrow \\
\operatorname{\underline{\lim}} \operatorname{Lie}(A^*)(U_n) \longrightarrow \operatorname{\underline{\lim}} \operatorname{Ext}(A_{U_n}, \mathbb{G}_a),$$

where U_n is the spectrum of R/m^{n+1} endowed with the pullback log structure from U. Since we already proved the case of constant degeneration, the bottom arrow is bijective. We prove that the right vertical arrow is injective so that bijective. To see it, since $\operatorname{Ext}(A_U, \mathbb{G}_a)$ is a subgroup of $H^1(A_U, \mathbb{G}_a)$ (in fact, the former coincides with the latter; see Lemma 3.17), it is enough to have GAGF for $H^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$. We take a complete and wide model P of A_U ([13] Proposition 10.3). We take a prime ℓ which is invertible on U. For $i \geq 0$, let $P_i \to A_U$ be the composite $P \to A_U \xrightarrow{\ell^i} A_U$. Cover A_U with respect to the két topology by the disjoint union $\coprod P_i$ of the P_i . Consider the Čech-derived spectral sequence for $\coprod P_i/A_U$

$$E_2^{pq} = \check{H}^p(\coprod P_i/A_U, \mathcal{H}^q(-, \mathbb{G}_a)) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}(A_U, \mathbb{G}_a).$$

Note that the két cohomology here coincides with the étale cohomology (cf. [8] Proposition 3.7). Since E_1^{pq} is a projective limit of modules of finite lengths for every p, q, the classical GAGF implies that for $H^m(A_U, \mathbb{G}_a)$ for every m, which completes the proof of the current case.

We prove the case of general U. We can prove that $\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a) = \mathcal{E}xt_{\mathrm{k\acute{e}t}}(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$ is locally of finite presentation by the method of [13] Proposition 12.8 (1). Hence we may assume that U is a strict localization of an fs log scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . Then, again by that $\mathcal{E}xt(A,\mathbb{G}_a)$ is locally of finite presentation and by Artin's approximation theorem, we reduce to the previous case where U is the spectrum of a complete noetherian local ring.

3.5. By Proposition 3.4, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a)^*) = \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a) \otimes \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a)^*$$
$$= \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a), \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a)).$$

Define

$$0 \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_a)^* \to E(A) \to A \to 0$$

as the extension associated with the canonical element in the left-hand-side corresponding to the identity in the right-hand-side of the above isomorphism. We call this the $universal\ additive\ extension$ of A.

Then, by construction, it has a universality, that is, any extension of A by some vector bundle V of finite rank can be obtained by the pushout with respect to a unique homomorphism $\mathcal{E}xt(A,\mathbb{G}_a)^* \to V$.

3.6. By Proposition 3.4 and the identification $A = A^*$, the universal additive extension is isomorphic to

$$0 \to \operatorname{coLie}(A) \to E(A) \to A \to 0.$$

In the rest of this section, we prove the following proposition.

3.7 PROPOSITION. Let $S \to S'$ be a strict nil immersion of affine fs log schemes of finite type over \mathbb{Z} by an ideal I such that $I^2 = 0$. Let A be a principally polarized log abelian variety over S. Let A' be a lift of A, that is, a principally polarized log abelian variety over S' endowed with an isomorphism between A and its pullback to S. Then we have a natural isomorphism between E(A') and the sheaf of groups $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A,\mathbb{G}_{m,\log})'$ of \natural -extensions defined below. In particular, the group sheaf E(A') is independent of a lift up to isomorphisms.

3.8. We define $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})'$. Consider the sheaf $\mathcal{H}^1_{\text{logcrys}}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ associated to the presheaf $(\text{fs}/S') \ni U' \mapsto H^1(((\text{fs}/A_{U'\times_{S'}S})/U')^{\log}_{\text{crys}}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ (cf. [15] Section 5 for the log crystalline site). Let $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ be the fiber product of

$$\mathcal{H}^1_{\text{logcrys}}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m, \text{log}}) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m, \text{log}}) \leftarrow A.$$

Consider the projection $q: (fs/S')_{\text{\'et}} \to (fs/S')'_{\text{\'et}}$, where the target is the subsite of $(fs/S')_{\text{\'et}}$ consisting of fs log schemes over S' which are of finite type over S'. Let $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' = q^{-1}q_*\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$.

Further, in the rest of this section, for an fs log scheme S of finite type over \mathbb{Z} and a sheaf F on $(\mathrm{fs}/S)_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$, we denote $q^{-1}q_*F$ by F', where q is the projection from $(\mathrm{fs}/S)_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$ to its subsite consisting of fs log schemes over S which are of finite type over S. For all F' appearing in the rest of this section, it is plausible that F = F'. In particular, it is plausible $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' = \mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$.

3.9. To prove Proposition 3.7, we use another construction of E(A) (see Proposition 3.16). To explain this, we have to introduce the small site of A.

Let A be a weak log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S.

We define the small site $(\text{l\'et}/A)_{\text{\'et}} \subset (\text{fs}/A)_{\text{\'et}}$ of A as the full subcategory consisting of all log étale objects. Here $(V \to A) \in (\text{fs}/A)$ is said to be \log $\acute{e}tale$ if for any fs log scheme W and any morphism $W \to A$, the fiber product $W \times_A V$ is a log étale log algebraic space over W in the first sense ([12] 10.1).

Next we define the site $(\text{fsl\'et}/A)_{\text{\'et}}$ as follows. Objects are the pairs (U, V), where U is an object of (fs/S) and V is an object of $(\text{l\'et}/A_U)$, where $A_U = A \times_S U$. Morphisms from (U', V') to (U, V) is a compatible pair of morphisms $U' \to U$ and $V' \to V$. Coverings are the $((U_i, V_i) \to (U, V))_i$ such that every $U_i \to U$ is strict étale and that $(V_i \to V)_i$ is a strict étale covering.

Assume that we are given the usual data by which we can discuss models. Then any log étale fs log scheme over some model of A is an object of $(\text{lét}/A)_{\text{\'et}}$. This is because for a model P, the projection $P \to A$ is relatively represented by log blow-ups. Further, under the condition in [13] 1.4.1, the proof of [13] Proposition 11.1 gives a set of topological generators consisting of these objects together with log étale fs log schemes over models of weak log abelian varieties which are isogeneous to A. Similarly, based on [13] Proposition 11.1, we can give a set of generators of $(\text{fsl\'et}/A)_{\text{\'et}}^{\sim}$ consisting of the set of the pairs (U, V), where U is an object of (fs/S) and V is a log étale fs log scheme over some model of a weak log abelian variety being isogeneous to A_U .

We can develop the theory of quasicoherent sheaves on (fslét/A). Let \mathcal{O}_A be the sheaf on (fslét/A)_{ét} defined by $\mathcal{O}_A((U,V)) = \Gamma(V,\mathcal{O}_V)$. Define a sheaf of \mathcal{O}_A -modules $\omega^1_{A/S}$ by $\omega^1_{A/S}((U,V)) = \Gamma(V,\omega^1_{V/U})$. The sheaves \mathbb{G}_a , \mathbb{G}_m , $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ have been considered on (fs/A)_{ét} in former parts in our series of papers. But they

are also defined on (fslét/A) (by abuse of notation) by $\mathbb{G}_a = \mathcal{O}_A$, $\mathbb{G}_m((U, V)) = \Gamma(V, \mathcal{O}_V^{\times})$, and $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}((U, V)) = \Gamma(V, M_V^{\mathrm{gp}})$.

Let $\mathcal{H}^q(A, -)$ be the q-th derived functor of the direct image functor

$$(\mathrm{fsl\acute{e}t}/A)_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}} \to (\mathrm{fs}/S); F \mapsto (U \mapsto \varprojlim_{V/A_U} F((U,V))).$$

Note that $\mathcal{H}^q(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$, $\mathcal{H}^q(A, \mathbb{G}_m)$, and $\mathcal{H}^q(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ in this sense coincide with the ones in the former parts of this series of papers, where the cohomology is considered via $(fs/A)_{\text{\'et}}$. This is because the canonical projection $(fs/A)_{\text{\'et}}^{\sim} \to (l\acute{et}/A)_{\text{\'et}}^{\sim}$ preserves \mathbb{G}_a , \mathbb{G}_m , and $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$. Note that we do not consider $\omega_{A/S}^1$ on the big site $(fs/A)_{\text{\'et}}$.

Below, we also consider the small site of \widetilde{A} , the sheaf $\omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}^1$ on it, and its cohomologies, which are defined similarly.

- **3.10 PROPOSITION.** Let S be an fs log scheme which is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . Let A be a principally polarized log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S. Then we have $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega^1_{A/S})' \cong \operatorname{coLie}(A)$. (See 3.8 for the notation (-)'.)
- **3.11.** We prove this proposition till 3.14. Consider the natural map

$$\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1) \to \mathcal{H}^0(G, \omega_{G/S}^1) \to \operatorname{coLie}(G) \cong \operatorname{coLie}(A),$$

where G is the semiabelian part of A.

First we assume that A is of constant degeneration and we prove that the above map is bijective so that we also have $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1)' \cong \operatorname{coLie}(A)$. (Note that in this case, we do not use the assumption that S is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} .) By [13] 6.4.1, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{H}^0(B, \omega_{B/S}^1) \to \mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}^1) \to \mathcal{O}_S \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \to \mathcal{H}^1(B, \omega_{B/S}^1)$$

(the notation is as in there). Here the last arrow is zero because it factors through the abelian variety $\mathcal{E}xt(B,\mathbb{G}_m)$ and $\mathcal{H}^1(B,\omega_{B/S}^1)$ is a vector bundle. Thus we obtain the upper row of the commutative diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{0}(B, \omega_{B/S}^{1}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{0}(\widetilde{A}, \omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}^{1}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \parallel$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{coLie}(B) \longrightarrow \operatorname{coLie}(\widetilde{A}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{S} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} X \longrightarrow 0.$$

Since the left vertical arrow is bijective, the middle one is also.

Now we prove that Y acts on $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}^1)$ trivially so that we may assume that the upper row splits. Once we have it, since $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1) = H^0(Y, \omega_{A/S}^1)$

 $\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega^1_{\widetilde{A}/S}))$, we will have $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega^1_{A/S}) = \mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega^1_{\widetilde{A}/S}) = \operatorname{coLie}(\widetilde{A}) = \operatorname{coLie}(A)$, as desired. Since $\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A} \times \widetilde{A}, \omega^1_{\widetilde{A} \times \widetilde{A}/S}) \to \operatorname{coLie}(\widetilde{A} \times \widetilde{A})$ is injective as seen as in the same way, and since there is a natural decomposition $\operatorname{coLie}(\widetilde{A} \times \widetilde{A}) = \operatorname{coLie}(\widetilde{A}) \times \operatorname{coLie}(\widetilde{A})$, we have the natural decomposition

$$\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}\times\widetilde{A},\omega^1_{\widetilde{A}\times\widetilde{A}/S})=\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A},\omega^1_{\widetilde{A}/S})\times\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A},\omega^1_{\widetilde{A}/S}).$$

Let $y \in Y$ and $c_y \colon \widetilde{A} \to \widetilde{A}; a \mapsto y$ the constant map. The translation by y on $\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega^1_{\widetilde{A}/S})$ coincides with $\mathcal{H}^0(\cdot, \omega_{(\cdot)})$ of $\widetilde{A} \stackrel{(\mathrm{id}, c_y)}{\to} \widetilde{A} \times \widetilde{A} \stackrel{\mathrm{sum}}{\to} \widetilde{A}$, which factors, via the above decomposition, through $\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}) \times \mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}) \to \mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega_{\widetilde{A}/S}); \alpha \mapsto \alpha + (c_y^*\alpha)$. Since c_y factors through the base, $c_y^*\alpha$ is zero. Thus Y acts on $\mathcal{H}^0(\widetilde{A}, \omega^1_{\widetilde{A}/S})$ trivially, which completes the proof of the case of constant degeneration.

3.12. To prove the general case of Proposition 3.10, it is enough to show that

(*)
$$H^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1) \to \operatorname{coLie}(A)(S)$$

is bijective. We may assume that we are given the usual data by which we can discuss models. We prove the injectivity. The GAGF for $H^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1)$ is proved in the same way as the GAGF for $H^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$ in the proof of Proposition 3.4. By this and the constant degeneration case proved in 3.11, we see that

(1) $H^0(A_{\hat{S}}, \omega^1_{A_{\hat{S}}/\hat{S}}) \to \operatorname{coLie}(A)(\hat{S})$ is bijective, where \hat{S} is the completion of the strict localization of S at every point.

We prove that

(2) $H^0(A_{S^{\text{sh}}}, \omega^1_{A_{S^{\text{sh}}}/S^{\text{sh}}}) \to \text{coLie}(A)(S^{\text{sh}})$ is injective, where S^{sh} is the strict localization of S at every point.

Let $\alpha \in H^0(A_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}}, \omega^1_{A_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}}/S^{\mathrm{sh}}})$. Assume that the image of α in $\mathrm{coLie}\,(A)(S^{\mathrm{sh}})$ is zero. Then, by (1), the image of α in $H^0(A_{\hat{S}}, \omega^1_{A_{\hat{S}}/\hat{S}})$ is zero. Take any fs log scheme P which is of finite type over S^{sh} and any morphism $P \to A_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}}$ over S^{sh} . The image of α in $H^0(P_{\hat{S}}, \omega^1_{P_{\hat{S}}/\hat{S}})$ is clearly zero. Then by Artin's approximation theorem, we see that $H^0(P, \omega^1_{P/S^{\mathrm{sh}}})$ is zero. Since when P varies, they cover $A_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}}$ (see [13] Proposition 11.1; actually, the proper Ps already cover $A_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}}$), this implies that α is zero. Thus (2) follows.

Similarly, we can deduce from (2) the desired injectivity as follows. Let $\alpha \in H^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1)$. Assume that the image of it in $\operatorname{coLie}(A)(S)$ is zero. Then, by (2), the image of it in $H^0(A_{S^{\operatorname{sh}}}, \omega_{A_{S^{\operatorname{sh}}}/S^{\operatorname{sh}}}^1)$ is zero. Take any fs log scheme P which is of finite type over S and any morphism $P \to A$ over S. The image of

 α in $H^0(P_{S^{\text{sh}}}, \omega^1_{P_{S^{\text{sh}}}/S^{\text{sh}}})$ is clearly zero. Then the image of α in $H^0(P, \omega^1_{P/S})$ is étale locally vanishes, and hence, vanishes. Since P_S cover A, this implies that α is zero.

To prove the surjectivity of (*), we use the following lemma.

3.13 LEMMA. Let A be a principally polarized log abelian variety over an fs log scheme S. Then strict étale locally on S, there is a log regular fs log scheme S_0 of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , a strict morphism $S \to S_0$, and a principally polarized log abelian variety A_0 over S_0 such that A is isomorphic to $A_0 \times_{S_0} S$.

Proof. By Proposition 2.6, we may assume that S is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . We may work strict étale locally on S. Taking a chart of S and an admissible pairing valued in the groupification of the chart which induces the admissible pairing $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ associated to A, we may assume that there is a toric variety S_0 over \mathbb{Z} and a strict morphism $S \to S_0$ such that $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ comes from S_0 . We may further assume that $S \to S_0$ is a strict closed immersion.

For each point s of S, consider the strict localizations at s and their completions of both S and S_0 . The A lifts formally over the completion of the strict localization $S_0^{\rm sh}$ of S_0 by the formal smoothness of the local moduli in [14] Theorem 2.4. By GAGF ([14] Theorem 6.1 and [14] Remark 6.1.1), it lifts also algebraically. Then, by Proposition 2.6, A lifts over a subring of the completion which is finitely generated over $S_0^{\rm sh}$. By Artin's approximation theorem, we take compatible sections over S and over S_0 , pull back the lift, and we have a lift of A over $S_0^{\rm sh}$. Further, again by Proposition 2.6, we obtain a lift strict étale locally on S, as desired.

3.14. We prove the surjectivity of (*). By Lemma 3.13, we may assume that A comes from a principally polarized log abelian variety A_0 over a log regular base. Since coLie is a vector bundle, we reduce to the surjectivity of (*) for A_0 . Hence we may assume that the base S is log regular in (*). Let P be any complete model of A. Let V be any fs log scheme which is log étale over A. Then $V \times_A P \to V$ is a log blow-up. Since S is log regular, V is also log regular and we have $R(V \times_A P \to V)_* \mathbb{G}_a = \mathbb{G}_a$ (cf. [17] p.44, Chapter I, Section 3, Corollary 1 to Theorem 12). From this, we see that $H^m(A, \omega_{A/S}^1) = H^m(P, \omega_{P/S}^1)$ for every M. In particular, $H^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1) = H^0(P, \omega_{P/S}^1)$.

Now take an element $\alpha \in \operatorname{coLie}(A)(S)$. We use the same notation as in 3.12. By (1) in 3.12, the image of α in $\operatorname{coLie}(A)(\hat{S})$ is in the image of $H^0(A_{\hat{S}}, \omega^1_{A_{\hat{S}}/\hat{S}})$. Take a complete model P. Since the image of α in $\operatorname{coLie}(A)(\hat{S})$ can be lifted to $H^0(P_{\hat{S}}, \omega^1_{P_{\hat{S}}/\hat{S}})$, by Artin's approximation theorem, the image of

 α in coLie $(A)(S^{\mathrm{sh}})$ can be lifted to $H^0(P_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}},\omega^1_{P_{S^{\mathrm{sh}}}/S^{\mathrm{sh}}})$. Then, α itself can be lifted to $H^0(P,\omega^1_{P/S})$. But we have $H^0(P,\omega^1_{P/S})=H^0(A,\omega^1_{A/S})$, which implies that α is in the image of $H^0(A,\omega^1_{A/S})$.

The proof of Proposition 3.10 is completed.

3.15. Let S and A be as in Proposition 3.10. Let $\omega^1 = \omega^1_{A/S}$.

Since $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ by [13] Proposition 2.1, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega^1) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, [\mathbb{G}_{m, \log} \to \omega^1]) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m, \log}) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \omega^1).$$

Here $[\mathbb{G}_{m,\log} \to \omega^1]$ means the complex where $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$ is in degree zero and the map is $d \log$.

From this, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega^1)' \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, [\mathbb{G}_{m,\log} \to \omega^1])' \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \omega^1)'.$$

(See 3.8 for the notation (-)'.)

Since A as a group sheaf is locally of finite presentation ([13] Proposition 12.7), there is a natural map $A \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})'$.

3.16 PROPOSITION. Let S and A be as in Proposition 3.10. The universal additive extension is obtained also as the fiber product E'(A) of

$$\mathcal{H}^1(A, [\mathbb{G}_{m,\log} \to \omega^1])' \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \leftarrow A.$$

We have a universal exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega^1)' \to E'(A) \to A \to 0.$$

We prove a lemma and a proposition we will use in the proof of Proposition 3.16.

3.17 LEMMA. Let A be a weak log abelian variety over a noetherian fs log scheme satisfying the condition 1.4.1 in [13]. Then we have $\operatorname{Ext}(A, \mathbb{G}_a) = H^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$.

Proof. This is an analogue of the cubic isomorphism [13] Theorem 2.2 (c), and the general case is reduced to the constant degeneration case as in the same way as in [13] 12.5. In the rest of this proof, we assume that A is with constant degeneration. Then, by [13] 6.4.1, we have $H^i(\widetilde{A}, \mathbb{G}_a) = H^i(B, \mathbb{G}_a)$ (the notation is as usual as in there). Hence we have the spectral sequence $E_2^{ij} = H^i(Y, H^j(B, \mathbb{G}_a)) \Rightarrow H^{i+j}(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$. Since Y acts on $H^j(B, \mathbb{G}_a)$ trivially for every j, there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(Y, \mathbb{G}_a) \to H^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a) \to H^1(B, \mathbb{G}_a).$$

Taking $H^1(B, \mathbb{G}_a) = \operatorname{Ext}(B, \mathbb{G}_a)$ into account, by comparing this with the exact sequence (3) in the proof of Proposition 3.4, we have $\operatorname{Ext}(A, \mathbb{G}_a) = H^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$, as desired.

- **3.18 PROPOSITION.** Let A and A' be principally polarized log abelian varieties over a noetherian fs log scheme S. Then we have the following.
 - (1) The restriction of $\mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a)$ to $S_{\text{\'et}}$ is a vector bundle of rank dim A.
 - $(2) H¹(A \times A', \mathbb{G}_a) = H¹(A, \mathbb{G}_a) \oplus H¹(A', \mathbb{G}_a).$
- *Proof.* (1) By Lemma 3.17, this is reduced to Proposition 3.4.
 - (2) It is by $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \mathbb{G}_a) = \mathcal{H}^0(A', \mathbb{G}_a) = \mathbb{G}_a$ ([13] Proposition 12.1) and (1). \square
- **3.19.** To have the exact sequence in Proposition 3.16, it is enough to show that the composition $A \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A,\omega^1)$ is the zero map.

The map $A \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A,\omega^1)$ comes from an element $\alpha \in H^1(A \times A, \operatorname{pr}_1^*\omega_{A/S}^1)$ such that (we denote the second A in $A \times A$ by A') it sends a section s of A' to the image of α by the pullback with respect to s. By Propositions 3.18 (2) and 3.10, we have

$$H^{1}(A \times A', \operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}\omega_{A/S}^{1}) = H^{1}(A \times A', \mathbb{G}_{a}) \otimes H^{0}(A \times A', \operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}\omega_{A/S}^{1})$$
$$= (H^{1}(A, \mathbb{G}_{a}) \oplus H^{1}(A', \mathbb{G}_{a})) \otimes \operatorname{coLie}(A)(S)$$
$$= H_{1} \oplus H_{2},$$

where

$$H_1 = H^1(A, \mathbb{G}_a) \otimes \operatorname{coLie}(A)(S), \quad H_2 = H^1(A', \mathbb{G}_a) \otimes \operatorname{coLie}(A)(S).$$

Write $\alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$ with $\alpha_i \in H_i$ (i = 1, 2). Then the pullback of α in $\mathcal{H}^1(A, \omega^1)$ under every $s \in A'$ is α_1 $(\alpha_2$ is killed by the pullback). That is, the map $A' \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \omega^1)$ is a constant map. Because it is a homomorphism, it is the zero map.

- **3.20.** We prove Proposition 3.16. By Proposition 3.10, $\mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1)'$ is a vector bundle. Hence, by the universality, we have a map $f \colon E(A) \to E'(A)$. To prove that it is bijective, it is enough to show that the induced map $\operatorname{coLie}(A) \to \mathcal{H}^0(A, \omega_{A/S}^1)'$ by f is the inverse of the map given in the proof of Proposition 3.10. By Lemma 3.13, we reduce to the case where the base is log regular. Hence we reduce to the case where the log structure of the base is trivial, that is the classical case.
- **3.21.** Now we prove Proposition 3.7. We construct a map $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \to E(A')$. Since A' is log smooth, by covering A' by log smooth objects, for each

section of $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})'$, we can associate a class of $\mathcal{H}^1(A', [\mathbb{G}_{m,\log} \stackrel{d \log}{\to} \omega^1_{A'/S'}])'$. We prove that the image of this class in $\mathcal{H}^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})'$ belongs to A'^* so that this class is in E'(A') = E(A') (Proposition 3.16). By definition of $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$, the image of this class in $\mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ belongs to A^* . Hence we reduce to the following claim.

CLAIM 1. The map from A' to the fiber product of

$$\mathcal{H}^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \leftarrow A$$

is bijective.

First we assume that A' is with constant degeneration. By the definition of the dual, it suffices to show that the map from $\mathcal{E}xt(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ to the fiber product of

$$\mathcal{H}^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \to \mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \leftarrow \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$$

is bijective. Since $\mathcal{H}^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})/\mathcal{E}xt(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ injects into $\mathcal{H}om(A', A'^*)$ by [13] Theorem 8.5 (2), it is enough to see that a homomorphism $A' \to A'^*$ is zero if the induced homomorphism $A \to A^*$ is zero. This is by Lemma 2.9.

Next, let $U' \in (\text{fs}/S')$ be of finite type over S' (so of finite type over \mathbb{Z}). We want to prove that an element of $\mathcal{H}^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})(U')$ belongs to A'(U') if its image in $\mathcal{H}^1(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})(U)$ belongs to A(U). By [13] Lemma 12.9, we can replace U' by its strict localization. By Artin's approximation theorem, we can further replace U' by the completion. To reduce the problem to what we already see in the constant degeneration case, it is sufficient to use the injective GAGF for $H^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$ ([14] Theorem 1.2) and the GAGF for A'(S) (cf. the proof of Proposition 2.8). We conclude that the element concerned belongs to A'(U'), as desired.

Thus we have a homomorphism $\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A,\mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \to E(A')$ which fits into the commutative diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow K \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \longrightarrow A'^* \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \parallel$$

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega^1_{A'/S'})' \longrightarrow E(A') \longrightarrow A' \longrightarrow 0$$

with exact rows, where $K = \text{Ker}(\mathcal{E}xt^{\natural}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \to A'^*)$. Hence it is enough to show that $K \to \mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega^1_{A'/S'})'$ is bijective. By Claim 1, K coincides with $\text{Ker}(\mathcal{H}^1_{\text{logcrys}}(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})' \to \mathcal{H}^1(A', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})')$.

CLAIM 2. There is a natural exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega^1_{A'/S'})' \to \mathcal{H}^1_{\text{logcrys}}(A, \mathbb{G}_a)' \to \text{Lie}\,(A').$$

By comparing this exact sequence with the upper row of the above commutative diagram, we see that the map $K \to \mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega^1_{A'/S'})'$ is identified with the identity, which completes the proof.

We prove Claim 2. By [15] Theorem 6.4, we have $\mathcal{H}^1_{\text{logerys}}(A, \mathbb{G}_a) = \mathcal{H}^1(A', \omega_{A'/S'})$. Further, by Proposition 3.4 and Lemma 3.17, we have a natural isomorphism $\text{Lie}(A') \cong \mathcal{H}^1(A', \omega_{A'/S'}^0)'$. Hence, to obtain the claimed exact sequence as a part of the log Hodge-de Rham spectral sequence, it is enough to show that the homomorphism $\mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega_{A'/S'}^1)' \to \mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega_{A'/S'}^2)$ is zero. Since $\mathcal{H}^0(A', \omega_{A'/S'}^1)' \cong \text{coLie}(A')$ (Proposition 3.10) is a vector bundle, by Lemma 3.13, we may assume that the base is log regular. Then it is zero because it is so over the nonlog open set.

4. Deformation of log abelian varieties

We discuss the deformation of log abelian varieties, which is used in the proofs of main results.

- **4.1 PROPOSITION.** Let $S = \operatorname{Spec} R \to S' = \operatorname{Spec} R'$ be a strict nil immersion of affine fs log schemes by a finitely generated and square-zero ideal $I \subset R'$. Let A be a principally polarized log abelian variety over S. Assume that a lift A' of A over S' is given. Then the following hold.
- (1) The set of the liftings of A over S' is naturally bijective to the underlying set of

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{sym}}(\operatorname{coLie}(A),\operatorname{Lie}(A))\otimes_R I,$$

where Hom_{sym} means the subgroup consisting of the self-dual homomorphisms.

- (2) Assume further that R' = R[I] and that the lift A' is the canonical one. Then the bijection in (1) is an isomorphism of R-modules.
- *Proof.* (1) Regard Lie (A') as an $\mathcal{O}_{S'}$ -module on the small étale site $\mathring{S}'_{\text{\'et}}$. Tensoring it with the exact sequence $0 \to I \to \mathcal{O}_{S'} \to \mathcal{O}_S \to 0$, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Lie}(A) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} I \to \operatorname{Lie}(A') \to \operatorname{Lie}(A) \to 0$$

on $\mathring{S}'_{\text{\'et}}$. Let $f: \operatorname{coLie}(A) \to \operatorname{Lie}(A) \otimes I$ be a homomorphism of $\mathcal{O}_{S'}$ -modules on $\mathring{S}'_{\text{\'et}}$, which comes from an element of the set concerned. Consider the composite

$$\operatorname{coLie}(A') \to \operatorname{coLie}(A) \xrightarrow{f} \operatorname{Lie}(A) \otimes I \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Lie}(A').$$

Locally, it lifts to a homomorphism \widetilde{f} : $\operatorname{coLie}(A') \to \operatorname{Lie}(E(A'))$ that induces the inclusion $\operatorname{coLie}(A) \to \operatorname{Lie}(E(A))$. Regard \widetilde{f} as a homomorphism of abelian sheaves on the big site $(\operatorname{fs}/S')_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}$. Then the image in E(A') of the image of \widetilde{f} is glued to give a subsheaf of E(A') and the quotient A'' of E(A') with respect to it does not depend on the choices up to isomorphisms.

Further, A'' is a log abelian variety on S' which lifts the original A. To see it, first we see that A'' is log smooth over S'. Next, there is a unique surjective homomorphism $A'' \to A'/G'$ which lifts $A \to A/G$. Here G and G' are the semi-abelian parts of A and A', respectively. Let G'' be the kernel of this surjection. Then G'' is a strict smooth group object over S' so that it is semiabelian because G is so. Since the pullback of A'' to S is A, the fibers of A'' are log abelian varieties. Finally we deduce that A'' is separated from the separability of E(A').

The self-duality implies that A'' is principally polarized. Thus we have a map from the set concerned to the set of the liftings, which is injective by the universality of E(A'). To prove its surjectivity, it is enough to show that for any lift A'', we have $E(A') \cong E(A'')$. To see this, by Proposition 2.6, we may assume that S' is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , and we use Proposition 3.7. We complete the proof of (1).

(2) is a formal consequence from (1). \Box

4.2 PROPOSITION. Let $S \to S'$ and A be as in the previous proposition. Then A lifts to S' Zariski locally on S.

Proof. The case where A is with constant degeneration is deduced from the log smoothness of the local moduli in [14] Theorem 2.4. Hence, the case where S' is the spectrum of an Artin ring is proved. Then the case where S' is the spectrum of a complete noetherian local ring is proved by GAGF ([14] Theorem 6.1 and Remark 6.1.1).

We prove the case where the underlying scheme of S' is a strict localization of an fs log scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . By the previous case, we have a principally polarized log abelian variety over the completion of S'. Then by Proposition 2.6 and Artin's approximation theorem, this case follows.

Consider the general case. We may assume that S' is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} by Proposition 2.6. Again by Proposition 2.6 and the case already proved, we can find a lift étale locally on S. By Proposition 4.1, the obstruction for the existence of a global lift is in $H^1(S, \mathcal{H}om_{\text{sym}}(\text{coLie}(A), \text{Lie}(A)) \otimes I)$, where I is as in Proposition 4.1. This vanishes Zariski locally. Hence A lifts Zariski locally on S.

5. Some related functors

We introduce some related functors which we will use in the proofs.

Throughout this section, let g, W, n be as in Section 1, Σ an admissible cone decomposition of $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ (Definition 1.1), and

$$F := F_{g,n}, \quad F_{\Sigma} := F_{g,n,\Sigma} \colon (\mathrm{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n]) \to (\mathrm{set})$$

the moduli functors in Definition 1.5.

By the next lemma, F is a sheaf with respect to the classical étale topology if $n \geq 3$.

5.1 LEMMA. Let U be an fs log scheme, let $n \geq 3$, and let A be a log abelian variety over U with a principal polarization ϕ and with a level n structure e. Then $Aut(A, \phi, e) = \{1\}$.

Proof. By Proposition 2.6, [12] Proposition 9.2 (1), and the representability of torsion points of a log abelian variety ([12] Proposition 18.1 (1)), we can spread out a triple (A, ϕ, e) and an automorphism of it. Hence we may assume that U is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . Since A is locally of finite presentation ([13] Proposition 12.7), we may replace U by a strict localization. By Artin's approximation theorem and again by [12] Proposition 9.2 (1), we may further replace U by the spectrum of a complete noetherian local ring. Then by GAGF for a log abelian variety ([14] Theorem 6.1), we may replace U by the spectrum of an Artin local ring. Lastly, by Lemma 2.9, an automorphism of A whose restriction to the closed point is the identity is the identity so that we may replace U by the closed point.

The rest is to prove the case where $\stackrel{\circ}{U}$ is the spectrum of a field. First we prove that $\operatorname{Aut}(A,\phi,e)$ is torsion-free. Since $n\geq 3$, as in the classical case, it is enough to show that for a prime number ℓ which is invertible on U and two log abelian varieties A_1 and A_2 over U, the natural map $\operatorname{Hom}(A_1,A_2)\to\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_\ell}(T_\ell A_1,T_\ell A_2)$ is injective. Let $f\in\operatorname{Hom}(A_1,A_2)$. Then the induced $T_\ell(f)$ preserves the weight filtrations (which means the filtration defined by the homomorphisms in [12] 18.9.1 and 18.9.2). Thus the above is reduced to the classical case (cf. [20] p.176, Theorem 3) and hence $\operatorname{Aut}(A,\phi,e)$ is torsion-free. Note here that $\operatorname{Hom}(A_1,A_2)$ is also finitely generated. This is also reduced to the classical case as follows. Since A_i is with constant degeneration, we can consider the associated log 1-motif $[Y_i \to G_{i,\log}]$ to A_i (i=1,2). Then we have $\operatorname{Hom}(A_1,A_2) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(Y_1,Y_2) \times \operatorname{Hom}(G_{1,\log},G_{2,\log}) = \operatorname{Hom}(Y_1,Y_2) \times \operatorname{Hom}(G_1,G_2)$, where the equality is by [10] Proposition 2.5. Hence, $\operatorname{Hom}(A_1,A_2)$ is finitely generated. In particular, $\operatorname{End}(A)$ is finitely generated.

Next, we prove that $Aut(A, \phi)$ is finite, which competes the proof. We may assume that Y for A is constant. We define the Rosati involution as in the classical case: for $g \in \text{End}(A)$, let *g be the homomorphism $A \xrightarrow{\phi} A^* \xrightarrow{g^*} A^* \xrightarrow{\phi^{-1}} A$. Then (\cdot) gives an anti-automorphism of End(A). Let (g_1, g_2) be the trace of the induced endomorphism on the Tate module by $g_1 \circ^* g_2$. Since this trace is the sum of the traces of the endomorphisms on Y, X and B, where $X \times Y \to M_S^{gp}/\mathcal{O}_S^{\times}$ is the associated pairing and B is the abelian part, $\langle g_1, g_2 \rangle$ defines a bilinear form on $\mathbb{R} \otimes \text{End}(A)$ as in the classical case. Further, by the definition, $\langle g, g \rangle = 1$ for any automorphism g. The rest is to show the positivity, that is, $\langle g, g \rangle =$ $\text{Tr}(g \circ^* g) > 0$ for $g \neq 0$. As is explained above, the trace is the sum of the three traces. The classical part is known (cf. [20] p.192, Theorem 1). The part on Y and the part on X can be treated similarly. We write down the former case. Let $f: Y_{\mathbb{Q}} \to Y_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be the induced homomorphism from g and $f: Y_{\mathbb{Q}} \to Y_{\mathbb{Q}}$ induced from *g. We have to prove $\text{Tr}(f \circ f) > 0$ if $f \neq 0$. Let $\phi \colon Y_{\mathbb{Q}} \to X_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be the homomorphism induced by ϕ . Then *f coincides with $\phi^{-1}f^{\vee}\phi$, where $f^{\vee} \colon X_{\mathbb{Q}} \to X_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is the dual of f. Let $\langle y, z \rangle_{Y}$ be $\langle \phi(y), z \rangle \in M_{S}^{gp}/\mathcal{O}_{S}^{\times}$. Then $\langle y, f(z) \rangle_Y = \langle \phi(y), f(z) \rangle = \langle f^{\vee} \phi(y), z \rangle = \langle \phi^{-1} f^{\vee} \phi(y), z \rangle_Y = \langle f^{*} f(y), z \rangle_Y.$ Let $N: M_S^{\mathrm{gp}}/\mathcal{O}_S^{\times} \to \mathbb{N}$ be a homomorphism whose kernel is trivial. Then $N(\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_Y)$ is a positive definite form. Since f and f are adjoint to each other with respect to this form, $Tr(f \circ^* f)$ is positive.

5.2. To prove main theorems, we define the sheaf F' on $(fs/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])_{\text{\'et}}$ as

$$F'(U) := \{ (A, \phi, e, f) \} / \cong,$$

 $U \in (\mathrm{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$, where (A, ϕ, e) is a g-dimensional principally polarized log abelian variety over U with a level n structure and f is a surjective homomorphism $W \to \overline{Y}(A)$.

This F' is indeed a sheaf because F is so.

5.3 PROPOSITION. The forgetful morphism $F' \to F$; $(A, \phi, e, f) \mapsto (A, \phi, e)$ is represented by strict étale surjective algebraic spaces. More strongly, it is represented by surjective Zariski local isomorphisms.

Proof. Let $(A, \phi, e) \colon U \to F$ be a morphism from any fs log scheme U over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$. The functor $F' \times_F U$ over U is represented by the sheaf of surjective homomorphisms $W \to \overline{Y}(A)$. Let $u \in U$, put $Y := \overline{Y}(A)_{\overline{u}}$, and, shrinking U if necessary, we may assume that there is a surjection $Y \to \overline{Y}(A)$. Then $F' \times_F U$ is represented by the fs log scheme $(\coprod_h U_h)/\sim$, where h runs over the set of the surjections $W \to Y$, U_h is a copy of U, and U_h and $U_{h'}$ are glued by the open subscheme on which h and h' induce the same $W \to \overline{Y}(A)$. The formation is compatible with any base change so that $F' \to F$ is globally represented.

Remark. Further, $F' \to F$ is represented by quasiseparated morphisms. This is seen as follows. In the notation in the above proof, $\overline{Y}(A)$ locally comes from an fs log scheme U that is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . Hence the glued schemes are quasiseparated.

5.4. Next we introduce the sheaf \mathcal{I} on $(fs/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])_{\text{\'et}}$ defined as

$$\mathcal{I}(U) := \{ \text{symmetric bilinear form } W \times W \xrightarrow{b} (\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)(U)$$
 which is positive semi-definite \},

 $U \in (\mathrm{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$, where b is said to be *positive semi-definite* if, for any $u \in U$ and any homomorphism $(M_U/\mathcal{O}_U^{\times})_{\overline{u}} \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}^{(+)}$, the induced $W \times W \to \mathbb{R}$ is positive semi-definite. Here $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}^{(+)}$ means the set $\{a \in \mathbb{R} \mid a \geq 0\}$ regarded as a monoid with respect to the addition.

We define the canonical morphism

$$F' \to \mathcal{T}$$

of sheaves by associating to (A, ϕ, e, f) over $U \in (fs/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$ a bilinear form

$$W \times W \stackrel{f \times f}{\to} \overline{Y}(A) \times \overline{Y}(A) \stackrel{\phi \times \mathrm{id}}{\to} \overline{X}(A) \times \overline{Y}(A) \stackrel{\langle , \rangle}{\to} \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m.$$

We construct an explicit covering of $\mathcal I$ by representable objects. Let $\mathcal T$ be the disjoint union of

$$V_{\sigma} := \operatorname{Spec}((\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{n}])[\sigma^{\vee} \cap \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{2}(W)]),$$

where σ runs over the set K of all sharp finitely generated \mathbb{Q} -cones consisting of positive semi-definite symmetric bilinear forms $W \times W \to \mathbb{R}$.

We have the natural morphism

$$\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{I}$$
.

5.5 PROPOSITION. The natural morphism $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{I}$ is surjective as a morphism of sheaves, $\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{T}$ is representable, the two projections $\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{T} \rightrightarrows \mathcal{T}$ are log étale and the natural morphism $\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{n}]} \mathcal{T}$ is of finite type.

Proof. We prove that $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{I}$ is surjective. Let b be an element of $\mathcal{I}(U)$ ($U \in (\text{fs}/\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$) and we prove that b comes from a section of \mathcal{T} . We may assume that U has a chart. Let σ be the dual of the inverse image of $M_U/\mathcal{O}_U^{\times}$ by the homomorphism $\text{Sym}_{\mathbb{Z}}^2(W) \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ induced by b. Then, strict étale locally on U, b comes from a section of V_{σ} . Hence, $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{I}$ is surjective.

Let $\sigma, \tau \in K$. To prove the rest, it is enough to show that $R := V_{\sigma} \times_{\mathcal{I}} V_{\tau}$ is representable, that $R \to V_{\sigma}$ is log étale and that R is quasicompact over $\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{n}]$. But the map $V_{\sigma \cap \tau} \times \mathbb{G}_m \to R$ sending (t, u) to $(t, t \cdot u)$, where we denote by the same symbol the images of t, is an isomorphism, which suffices.

Let $F'_{\mathcal{T}} = F' \times_{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{T}$. The next proposition is an essence of the proofs of our main results. Once it is proved, all results are easily deduced from it.

5.6 PROPOSITION. The functor $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$, restricted on $(\operatorname{sch}/\mathring{\mathcal{T}}) \subset (\operatorname{fs}/\mathcal{T})$, is represented by a locally separated algebraic space over $\mathring{\mathcal{T}}$.

We prove this in the next section.

6. Artin's criterion

In this section, we prove Proposition 5.6 by the classical Artin criterion. This section is a core of the proofs in this part VII of this series of papers.

6.1 LEMMA. The quotient sheaf $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ is an fppf sheaf.

Proof. This is proved in [16] 3.5. We include the proof for readers' conveniences. Let $U' \to U$ be a strict fppf covering. Let $U'' := U' \times_U U'$ and it is enough to show that

$$\Gamma(U, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m) \to \Gamma(U', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m) \rightrightarrows \Gamma(U'', \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)$$

is exact. We may assume that U has a chart. Then every $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ is the inverse image of $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ on U_{Zar} . Hence the above exactness is reduced to the exactness of the diagram of topological spaces $U'' \rightrightarrows U' \to U$.

6.2. We prove Proposition 5.6. The functor concerned over $(\operatorname{sch}/\mathring{\mathcal{T}})$ associates to each $\mathring{\mathcal{T}}$ -scheme U the set of isomorphism classes of (A, ϕ, e, f) over $(U, M_{\mathcal{T}})$ whose induced section in $\mathcal{I}((U, M_{\mathcal{T}}))$ coincides with the pullback of the one determined by the given $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{I}$. Here $M_{\mathcal{T}}$ is the inverse image log structure of \mathcal{T} . We denote this functor by H.

By the classical Artin criterion [2] Theorem 5.3, to prove Proposition 5.6, it is enough to show that the eleven conditions [0']-[5'](c) there are satisfied for H.

Henceforth in this proof, the notation follows loc. cit. As a deformation theory (loc. cit. Definition 5.2) for H, we take the standard one : $D(A_0, M, \xi_0) = H_{\xi_0}(A_0[M])$. To see that it is actually a deformation theory, it is enough to check the bijectivity of the map (*) in loc. cit. p.48, which also implies the

conditions [4'](b) and [5'](a) as explained there. This bijectivity is proved by the calculation of deformations of log abelian varieties as follows. Let us recall the situation. First let A_0 be a noetherian $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}$ -integral domain. Let $A' \to A \to A_0$ be infinitesimal extensions. Let $B \to A_0$ be another infinitesimal extension. For every map $B \to A$, consider the map

$$(*) H(A' \times_A B) \to H(A') \times_{H(A)} H(B).$$

We must show that it is bijective. Let $(A_1, \phi_1, e_1, f_1) \in H(B)$. By Proposition 4.1 (1) and Proposition 4.2, we have a bijection from the inverse image of (A_1, ϕ_1, e_1, f_1) by $H(A' \times_A B) \to H(B)$ to

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{sym}}(\operatorname{coLie}(A_1),\operatorname{Lie}(A_1))\otimes I,$$

where $I = \text{Ker}(A' \times_A B \to B)$. Since $I = \text{Ker}(A' \to A)$, again by Proposition 4.1 (1) and Proposition 4.2, it is naturally bijective to the inverse image of the image in H(A) of (A_1, ϕ_1, e_1, f_1) by $H(A') \to H(A)$. Hence (*) is bijective.

6.3. We prove [0'], that is, that H is a sheaf for the fppf topology.

It is enough to show that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is an fppf sheaf. Let $p: U' \to U$ be a strict fppf covering of a \mathcal{T} -fs log scheme. We prove that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U')$ is injective. Let (A_1, ϕ_1, e_1, f_1) , $(A_2, \phi_2, e_2, f_2) \in F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U)$ and assume that $p^{-1}(A_1, \phi_1, e_1, f_1) \cong$ $p^{-1}(A_2, \phi_2, e_2, f_2)$. We will prove $(A_1, \phi_1, e_1, f_1) \cong (A_2, \phi_2, e_2, f_2)$. Since $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is an étale sheaf, we may assume that there is an admissible pairing $b \colon W \times W \to \mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{gp}}$ $(\mathcal{S} \text{ is an fs monoid})$ with a homomorphism $\mathcal{S} \to (\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)_U$ such that the composite $W \times W \to (\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)_U$ is the given pairing $U \to \mathcal{I}$ which induces $A_1/G_1 \cong A_2/G_2 \cong \mathcal{H}om(X, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(Y)}/\overline{Y}$. Here X = Y = W, and G_1 and G_2 are the semiabelian parts of A_1 and A_2 respectively. The assumption together with Lemma 5.1 implies that there is an isomorphism $p^{-1}A_1 \cong p^{-1}A_2$ whose two pullbacks by the projections $U'' := U' \times_U U' \Rightarrow U'$ coincide. It induces an isomorphism $p^{-1}\widetilde{A}_1 \cong p^{-1}\widetilde{A}_2$ whose two pullbacks by the projections $U'' \rightrightarrows U'$ coincide. Now let $C \subset \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{S}, \mathbb{N}) \times \mathcal{H}om(X, \mathbb{Z})$ be as in [12] 2.2. Let C(m) be the cones such that $C = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} C(m)$ as in [9] 3.4.9. By taking C(m)-models, we have an isomorphism $p^{-1}\widetilde{A}_1^{(C(m))} \cong p^{-1}\widetilde{A}_2^{(C(m))}$ whose two pullbacks by the projections $U'' \Rightarrow U'$ coincide. Then by the fppf descent of algebraic spaces together with the descent of the fs log structure (cf. [23] Appendix Corollary A.5), we see that the isomorphism of models descends into an isomorphism $\widetilde{A}_1^{(C(m))} \cong \widetilde{A}_2^{(C(m))}$ of algebraic spaces with fs log structures. By taking the union, we have $A_1 \cong A_2$. This isomorphism preserves the group structure since it is so fppf locally. Further it induces $\overline{Y}_1 \cong \overline{Y}_2$ since it is so fppf locally, where $\overline{Y}_i = \text{Ker}(\widetilde{A}_i \to A_i)$ (i = 1, 2). Thus we have $A_1 \cong A_2$. This isomorphism respects polarizations, level structures and surjections. This is by the fact that A_i (i = 1, 2) is an fppf sheaf, which is seen by observing that \widetilde{A}_i is a két sheaf ([12] Theorem 5.1) and that \widetilde{A}_i is the union with respect to the két topology of log algebraic spaces in the first sense.

6.4. Next we prove the exactness of $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U') \rightrightarrows F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U'')$. Let (A', ϕ', e', f') be in the difference kernel of $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U') \rightrightarrows F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U'')$. We will prove that (A', ϕ', e', f') comes from $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(U)$. Note that the cocycle condition holds by Lemma 5.1. Again by that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is an étale sheaf and that we already showed that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is a separated presheaf for the fppf topology, we may assume that there is a pairing $b \colon W \times W \to \mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{gp}}$ as before which induces $A'/G' \cong \mathcal{H}om(X, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(\Sigma)}/\overline{Y}$. (Here and hereafter the notation is similar to that in the previous paragraph.) Again by taking \widetilde{A}' and its models, we have descent data of log algebraic spaces in the first sense. By the fppf descent of log algebraic spaces in the first sense as before, $\widetilde{A}'^{(C(m))}$ descends as a log algebraic space in the first sense. Then \widetilde{A} descends. Next, the pairing $W \times W \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ descends by Lemma 6.1. The descended pairing is admissible since it is so fppf locally. Since the pairing descends, \overline{X} and \overline{Y} also descend. The homomorphism $\overline{Y} \to \widetilde{A}$ descends. It is injective since it is so fppf locally. Let A be the cokernel of $\overline{Y} \to \widetilde{A}$.

We prove that A is a log abelian variety. Since $\mathcal{H}om(X, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(Y)}/\overline{Y}$ is an fppf sheaf by Lemma 6.1, the surjective morphism $A' \to \mathcal{H}om(X, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(\Sigma)}/\overline{Y}$ also descends. Hence, the semiabelian part also descends. Thus the exact sequence

$$0 \to G \to A \to \mathcal{H}om(X, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(Y)}/\overline{Y} \to 0$$

exists. The diagonal is finite because it is so fppf locally.

The principal polarization descends by Proposition 2.4, which implies the pointwise polarizability. Once the polarization descends, the level structure and the surjection descend. This completes the proof of [0'].

6.5 REMARK. There are two alternative proofs for [0']. One is by the use of [14] Theorem 4.7, that is, the descent of A is reduced to that of models. Another proof is as follows. We can prove [1'] and [2'] in advance. See 6.6 and 6.7 below. Then, by [1'], we may assume that U is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , and replace U by a strict localization. By Artin's approximation theorem and [1'] again, we further replace U by the spectrum of a complete noetherian local ring. Then, by [2'], we reduce to the case where U is the spectrum of an Artin local ring so that it suffices to show the fppf descent of log 1-motives $[Y \to G_{\log}]$. The lattice Y descends. By [10] Proposition 2.5, the descent data on G_{\log} give those on G. Hence G descends and G_{\log} also descends. The rest is to see that the homomorphism $Y \to G_{\log}$ descends. For it, it suffices to show that G_{\log} is an fppf sheaf. By using the exact sequence $0 \to T_{\log} \to G_{\log} \to B \to 0$, where T

and B are the torus and the abelian part, respectively, we reduce the problem to the vanishing of $R^1\eta_*\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$, where η is the projection of the fppf site to the étale site. The last vanishing is a part of the log Hilbert 90 (see [16] Corollary 5.2).

6.6. We prove [1'] that H is locally of finite presentation. It is enough to show that F' is locally of finite presentation, that is, that $\varinjlim F'(U_i) \to F'(U)$ is bijective, where $(U_i)_i$ is an inverse system of affine $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ -fs log schemes with strict transition morphisms and $U := \varprojlim U_i$.

This is by Proposition 2.6 by taking care of level structure and the surjection $W \to \overline{Y}(A)$. The level structure can be spread out by the representability of the torsion points ([12] Proposition 18.1). It is obvious that the surjection is spread out.

- **6.7.** We prove [2']. It is enough to show that $F'(R) \to \varprojlim F'(R/m^n)$ is injective and has a dense image, where (R, m, k) is a complete noetherian local $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}$ -algebra. In fact the above map is bijective. This is essentially by [14] Theorem 6.1. We have to take care of the polarization, the level structure, and the surjection. For the polarization, see [14] Remark 6.1.1. The level structure is algebraized because the group of torsion points of a log abelian variety is represented by finite log flat group schemes ([12] Proposition 18.1). Finally, the formal surjection $W \to \overline{Y}(A)$ determines the surjection on R.
- **6.8.** We prove the condition [3'](a). It is enough to show the following: Let S be a geometric discrete valuation ring with an fs log structure over \mathcal{T} . Then $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(K) \times F'_{\mathcal{T}}(k)$ is injective, where K (resp. k) is the fraction field (resp. the residue field) of \mathcal{O}_S .

If S has the direct image log structure from K, then $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(K) \times F'_{\mathcal{T}}(k)$ is injective because $\mathcal{C}_0^{\text{ptpol}} = \mathcal{C}_0^{\text{pol}} = \mathcal{C}_2^{\text{pol}}$ (in the notation there) by [14] Theorem 3.4 (1) and (3). (Though S is not necessarily an fs log scheme, we define $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S)$ here as in [14] 3.1.)

The general case is reduced to this case as follows. It suffices to prove that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S')$ is injective, where S' is the one endowed with the direct image log structure from K. Since $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S^{\text{sh}})$ is injective by 6.3–6.4 and 6.6, where S^{sh} is the strict henselization of S, we can replace S and S' by their strict localizations. Furthermore, since $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S) \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}(\hat{S})$ is injective by 6.6 and Artin's approximation theorem, where \hat{S} is the completion of S, we can further replace S and S' by their completions.

Thus we may assume that S and S' are complete. Then by 6.7, we can replace S and S' by the spectrum of Artin rings. Hence the log abelian varieties

concerned are with constant degeneration. Let ξ and η be elements of $F'_{\mathcal{T}}(S)$. Assume that the pullbacks to S' of ξ and η coincide. Then the surjections $W \to Y$ of ξ and η are common. The $Y \to X$ are also common. Together with the definition of $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$, the admissible pairings $X \times Y \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ are common. Hence the torus part T is common. Since the underlying schemes of S and S' are the same, the abelian part S and the semiabelian part S are also common. Hence it is enough to show that the homomorphism $Y \to G_{\log}$ is determined by the pullback to S'; once it is proved, S0 and the level structure are common. But the induced homomorphism S1 and the level structure are common. Since there is an exact sequence S2 and S3 are the same and the level structure are common. But the induced homomorphism S3 and S4 and the level structure are common. But the induced homomorphism S4 and S5 are the same are the same and the level structure are common. But the induced homomorphism S3 are the same are the s

6.9. We prove [4'](a), which means $H_{\xi_0}(A_0[M])$ commutes with localization in A_0 and is a finite module when M is free of rank one. Let A be the polarized log abelian variety corresponding to ξ_0 . Then the condition [4'](a) is reduced to the equality

$$H_{\varepsilon_0}(A_0[M]) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{sym}}(\operatorname{coLie}(A), \operatorname{Lie}(A)) \otimes_{A_0} M$$

as A_0 -modules.

If we neglect the additional structures, this is by Proposition 4.1 (2). So it is enough to show that the additional structures deform uniquely. By [12] Proposition 18.1 (3), the torsion points are két locally isomorphic to $(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})^{2g}$. Since the két site over $\operatorname{Spec}(A_0)$ and that over $\operatorname{Spec}(A_0[M])$ are equivalent, the level structure uniquely deforms. The surjection also uniquely extends, which completes the proof of [4'](a).

6.10. To see that the conditions [3'](b), [4'](c) and [5'](c) are valid for H, we may assume by [10] Theorem 4.6 (2) that the ξ , η etc. concerned in these conditions are with constant degeneration because $M_{A_0}/\mathcal{O}_{A_0}^{\times}$ is locally constant around the generic point. (Here we use [4'](a) for [4'](c).) Then their lattices Y are constant because the monodromy acts on Y trivially by Lemma 5.1. Let r be their rank. Fix an isomorphism $\mathbb{Z}^r =: Y \cong \overline{Y}(A')$ and a surjection $W \to Y$ which are compatible with $f: W \to \overline{Y}$, and denote by b the map $U := (\operatorname{Spec}(A_0), M_{\mathcal{T}}) \to \mathcal{I}$. Since U is quasicompact, we can take a finitely generated cone σ as in [14] Section 2 such that for any $u \in U$ and any homomorphism $M_{U,\overline{u}} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{(+)}$, the induced pairing $Y \times Y \to \mathbb{Q}$ by b belongs σ . Then b factors through $\operatorname{Spec}(\sigma^{\vee})$ and further through $\mathcal{T}_0 := \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{I}} \operatorname{Spec}(\sigma^{\vee})$ also after localizing U. Hence we may assume that b factors through \mathcal{T}_0 . (Here we use again [4'](a) for [4'](c).) Now ξ etc. can be lifted to sections of $(F_{g,r,n,\sigma})_{\mathcal{T}_0}$, and we can replace H by the restriction $H_{g,r,n,\sigma}$ of $(F_{g,r,n,\sigma})_{\mathcal{T}_0}$ in $(\operatorname{sch}/\mathring{\mathcal{T}}_0)$. (Note that for [4'](c) and [5'](c), we use here the fact that

the deformations of log abelian varieties with the constant \overline{Y} must be with the constant \overline{Y} .) Since $(F_{g,r,n,\sigma})_{\mathcal{T}_0}$ is pro-representable by [14] Theorem 2.4, $H_{g,r,n,\sigma}$ is also pro-representable (by the underlying formal scheme). From this, we can see that [3'](b), [4'](c) and [5'](c) are valid for $H_{g,r,n,\sigma}$.

6.11. Since we already see in 6.2 that the conditions [4'](b) and [5'](a) are satisfied, the rest is [5'](b). Since $A_0 \times_K A'_K \to A_0 \times_K A_K$ in loc. cit. (the notation is as in there) is a nilpotent thickening of local rings with square zero ideal, this is reduced to Proposition 4.2 as follows. In fact, we prove that, in general, for a nil immersion Spec $R \to \text{Spec } R'$ of affine local schemes over $\mathring{\mathcal{T}}$ defined by a (not necessarily finitely generated) ideal I with $I^2 = 0$, any element of H(R) can be lifted to H(R'). Take an inductive system $(R'_i)_i$ of noetherian local sub $\mathcal{O}(\mathring{\mathcal{T}})$ -algebras of R' such that $\varinjlim_{R_i} R'_i$ is isomorphic to R'. For any i, let R_i be the image of $R'_i \to R$ so that $\varinjlim_{R_i} R'_i = R$. By [1'], any element of H(R) can be lifted to an element of $H(R_i)$ for some i. Hence we may assume that R' is noetherian. In this case, by Proposition 4.2, any polarized log abelian variety over R' can be lifted to R. The level structure and the surjection uniquely extend (cf. 6.9), which completes the proof of [5'](b).

Thus the proof of Proposition 5.6 is completed.

7. Representability of moduli functors

In this section, we return to the study of the moduli functors of log abelian varieties defined in Section 1, and prove Theorems 1.6 and 1.7 except properness based on Proposition 5.6.

7.1. We deduce from Proposition 5.6 we have shown in the previous section, that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is represented by a log smooth log algebraic space over \mathcal{T} in the first sense.

In fact, Proposition 5.6 gives us an underlying algebraic space, denoted by \mathring{X} , over $\mathring{\mathcal{T}}$. It contains as a dense open subset the part which is the moduli of abelian varieties without degeneration. We denote this open set by U. Endow \mathring{X} with the inverse image log structure from \mathcal{T} . Note that by the local theory ([14] Section 2), it coincides with the log structure by the complement of U and the resulting log algebraic space X in the first sense is log smooth over the base $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$.

By definition, there is a canonical morphism $X \to F'_{\mathcal{T}}$. It suffices to show that it is an isomorphism. Since each log locus (i.e., a subscheme where M/\mathcal{O}^{\times} is locally constant) of X is a moduli of log abelian varieties with constant degenera-

tion ([14] Section 2, cf. 6.10), the canonical morphism is formally an isomorphism. Hence, by the argument in [11] 5.4, we reduce to the fact that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ has the two properties that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is locally of finite presentation and that $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ has the uniqueness for GAGF. These are reduced to that F' has the same two properties, which is shown in 6.6 and in 6.7, respectively.

7.2. PROOF OF THEOREM 1.7 EXCEPT PROPERNESS. We prove a slight variant of Theorem 1.7 as follows, which implies Theorem 1.7 except properness. Let Σ be a fan in $S_{\mathbb{Q}}(W)$ supported by positive semi-definite bilinear forms which is not necessarily complete and not necessarily stable under the action of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}}(W)$.

Let \mathcal{I}_{Σ} be the subsheaf of \mathcal{I} defined by

 $\mathcal{I}_{\Sigma}(U) := \{b \in \mathcal{I}(U) \mid \text{for any } u \in U, \text{ there exists } \sigma \in \Sigma \text{ such that, for any homomorphism } M_{U,\overline{u}} \to \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}^{(+)}, \text{ the induced } W \times W \to \mathbb{Q} \text{ belongs to } \sigma\},$ $U \in (\mathrm{fs}/S).$

We define

$$F'_{\Sigma} := F' \times_{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{I}_{\Sigma}$$

and prove that F'_{Σ} is a log smooth log algebraic space in the first sense.

To prove it, we may assume that Σ is the set of all faces of a cone σ . In this case, we write F'_{Σ} as F'_{σ} . Let

$$H_{\sigma} := F'_{\sigma} \times_{\mathcal{I}} V_{\sigma} = F'_{\mathcal{T}} \times_{\mathcal{T}} V_{\sigma} = F' \times_{\mathcal{I}} V_{\sigma}.$$

Then H_{σ} is a log algebraic space in the first sense because $F'_{\mathcal{T}}$ is so.

We consider F'_{σ} as a quotient of H_{σ} by the action by the torus defined as the dense open subspace of V_{σ} where the log structure is trivial.

Let X be the quotient of H_{σ} by the torus action as a functor from the category of schemes over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ to the category of sets. We can prove that it is representable by the classical Artin criterion ([2] Theorem 3.4). In fact, the openness of versality is satisfied because H_{σ} is representable. The effective prorepresentability is also satisfied because X is formally a moduli of log abelian varieties with constant degeneration ([14] Section 2). The other conditions are easily verified. Thus we have an algebraic space X, which contains as a dense open subset the part of the moduli of abelian varieties without degeneration. We denote this open set by X is uith the log structure by the complement of X and the resulting log algebraic space X in the first sense is log smooth by the local theory. Further, the projection X is a factor through the natural morphism X because the latter is strict as seen pointwise by the local theory. To see that the induced $X \to Y_{\sigma}$ is an isomorphism, by the same argument as in

7.1 with the use of the local theory, it is enough to show that F'_{σ} has the two properties there. It reduces to that F' has the two properties and again to 6.6 and 6.7. Thus $X \to F'_{\sigma}$ is an isomorphism. We conclude that F'_{Σ} is a log smooth log algebraic space in the first sense.

By $F'_{\Sigma} = F_{\Sigma} \times_F F'$ and by Proposition 5.3, F_{Σ} is also a log smooth log algebraic space in the first sense, which completes the proof of Theorem 1.7 except properness.

- **7.3 REMARK.** The above proof also shows that the space representing F_{Σ} contains as a dense open subset the moduli space $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$ of principally polarized abelian varieties with level n structure.
- **7.4.** PROOF OF THEOREM 1.6 EXCEPT PROPERNESS. We deduce Theorem 1.6 except properness from the variant of Theorem 1.7 proved in the previous paragraph.

We have $F' = \bigcup_{\sigma \in K} F'_{\sigma}$, where K is as in 5.4. Cover F' by $\coprod_{\sigma \in K} F'_{\sigma}$, which is a log smooth log algebraic space in the first sense by 7.2. For two cones $\tau \subset \sigma$, we have that $V_{\tau} \to V_{\sigma}$ is log étale so that $F'_{\tau} \to F'_{\sigma}$ is represented by a log étale morphism of log algebraic spaces in the first sense. This implies that F' is a log smooth log algebraic space in the second sense. Hence, F is also.

8. Valuative criterion

In this section, we prove the properness of our moduli spaces, which completes the proofs of Theorems 1.6 and 1.7. We use the valuative criterion and the unique extendability of a log abelian variety over a complete discrete valuation field, which was developed in former parts of our series of papers.

- **8.1.** We use the same notation as before. We have to prove that F and F_{Σ} are proper over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$. First we prove that F is proper, that is, $F(O_K) = F(K)$ in the notation in [12] 17.3. In order to reduce this equality to the category equivalence $C_0^{\text{ptpol}} \simeq C_2^{\text{pol}}$ ([14] Theorem 3.4), it is enough to show that for a section $(A, \phi, e) \in F(K)$, where K is a field endowed with an fs log structure, the lattice Y of A and the torus part T of A are unramified and the abelian part B of A is of semistable reduction. To see it, it is enough to show that the local monodromy acts on the Tate module of A trivially, which is by Lemma 5.1. This completes the proof of Theorem 1.6.
- **8.2.** Next we prove that F_{Σ} is proper. The proof is parallel to that of [12]

Proposition 11.3, which says that the properness of a weak log abelian variety implies the properness of its model with respect to a complete fan.

First, to see that $F_{\Sigma} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$ is separated, we use the following valuative criterion for separatedness for algebraic spaces.

- **8.3 PROPOSITION.** Let Y be a locally noetherian scheme. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of algebraic spaces. Assume
 - (1) f is locally of finite type, and
 - (2) for any commutative diagram

$$\operatorname{Spec}(K) \longrightarrow X$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$\operatorname{Spec}(O_K) \longrightarrow Y,$$

where K is a discrete valuation field with the valuation ring O_K , there exist at most one morphism $\operatorname{Spec}(O_K) \to X$ such that $\operatorname{Spec}(K) \to X$ coincides with $\operatorname{Spec}(K) \to \operatorname{Spec}(O_K) \to X$ and $\operatorname{Spec}(O_K) \to X \to Y$ coincides with $\operatorname{Spec}(O_K) \to Y$.

Then f is separated.

See [4] Lemma 19.1 (tag:0ARJ) for a proof. Note that, by definition we have adopted, an algebraic space is quasiseparated.

- **8.4.** Since we already see that F_{Σ} is log smooth, the condition (1) in Proposition 8.3 is satisfied. Let the notation be as in Proposition 8.3 (2) with $X = F_{\Sigma}$ and $Y = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$. Endow $\operatorname{Spec}(K)$ with the inverse image log structure from F_{Σ} and $\operatorname{Spec}(O_K)$ with the direct image log structure from $\operatorname{Spec}(K)$. Then, since a morphism $\operatorname{Spec}(O_K) \to X$ of algebraic spaces making the diagram in Proposition 8.3 (2) commute uniquely extends to a morphism of log algebraic spaces making the diagram of log algebraic spaces commute, it is sufficient to show that $F_{\Sigma}(O_K) \to F_{\Sigma}(K)$ is injective. This is by $F(O_K) = F(K)$ in 8.1 and $F_{\Sigma} \subset F$. Hence F_{Σ} is separated.
- **8.5.** Now we apply to $F_{\Sigma} \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{Z}[1/n])$ another valuative criterion [12] Proposition 11.4 for universal closedness. Since we already see that F_{Σ} is separated, it suffices to check the conditions (1) and (2) in [12] Proposition 11.4.

First F_{Σ} is quasicompact because, in virtue of the condition (4) in Definition 1.1, F_{Σ} is the union of a finite number of σ -loci ($\sigma \in \Sigma$), and each σ -locus is quasicompact by the local theory ([14] Section 2). Since we already know that F_{Σ} is log smooth, it is also of finite type, that is, the condition (1) in [12] Proposition 11.4 is satisfied.

The condition (2) in [12] Proposition 11.4 can be deduced from $F(O_K) = F(K)$ in 8.1 exactly in the same way as in [12] 11.6–11.7. (Note that in the third last line in [12] 11.7, $A^{(\Sigma)}(S'') \to A^{(\Sigma)}(\eta'')$ should be replaced by $A^{(\Sigma)}(\eta'') \to A(\eta'')$.) This completes the proof of Theorem 1.7.

9. Toroidal compactifications

Finally we prove Theorem 1.8, which says that the toroidal compactification is the underlying space of our space.

9.1. First, since we have worked over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$ with the naive level structures, to compare our space with that in [5], we have to adjust the moduli functor a little by introducing the symplectic level structures, which we explain briefly.

For a principally polarized log abelian variety A over an fs log scheme S and an integer n invertible on S, the exact sequence $0 \to A[n] \to A \xrightarrow{n} A \to 0$ induces the exact sequence $0 \to \mathcal{H}om(A[n], \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \to \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}) \xrightarrow{n} \mathcal{E}xt(A, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log})$. This defines the Weil pairing $A[n] \times A[n] \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}$. Then we can define the symplectic level structure on A, and the corresponding moduli functor over $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta_n][1/n]$ is represented by an open and closed subspace of the scalar extension of the space representing the functor $F_{g,n,\Sigma}$ in Theorem 1.7. Since this open and closed subspace contains $A_{g,n}$ as a dense open subspace as is seen by the local theory, it is in fact a connected component. Below, "our space" means this connected component of the scalar extension.

9.2. PROOF OF THEOREM 1.8. There are two methods, which have an outline in common: In both methods, we construct a family of log abelian varieties over the Faltings-Chai space $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$, which would coincide with the universal family over our space. The family decides a morphism i from $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$ to our space because ours is a fine moduli, and we prove that i is an isomorphism.

In the first method, we construct the family of log abelian varieties by gluing the local universal families over our local moduli in [14]. The compatibility of the local families is checked by using the local properties of Faltings-Chai's family P over $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$, which compactifies the universal family of abelian varieties over the open set $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$ without degeneration of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$. After we prove Theorem 1.8, we show that their family P is a model of our family.

In the second method, we try to construct the family of log abelian varieties directly from P by "recovering from models"-procedure. But it requires a cone decomposition having some good property, and we have to suppose its existence. Then we see that P is a model of our family as soon as we would prove Theorem

1.8.

Notice that these two constructions generalize the two constructions of universal log elliptic curves over X(N) in [11] Section 3 and in [11] Appendix, respectively.

9.3. We prove Theorem 1.8 by the first method. See Remark 9.4 for the second method. Let x be a point of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$. Since the formal completion of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$ at x can be identified with our local moduli in [14], by GAGF for log abelian varieties ([14] Theorem 6.1), we have a family A_x of log abelian varieties (with polarizations and level structures (cf. 6.7), omitted below) over the completion of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$ at x. We claim that they are compatible with each other and with the universal family of abelian varieties over $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$. Then, they are glued globally and gives a morphism i from $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$ to our space (cf. [10] Proposition 4.8).

To prove this compatibility, we use the local portion of the theory of Faltings—Chai. Let P be the family constructed by Faltings—Chai associated to an admissible polyhedral cone decomposition $\{\tau_{\beta}\}$. We endow P with the fs log structure determined by the inverse image of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n} - \mathcal{A}_{g,n}$. Then, over the formal completion of $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$ at x, which is identified with our local moduli, the pullback of P coincides with a model of our formal universal family associated to the fan decided by $\{\tau_{\beta}\}$. Hence, by GAGF, over the completion at x, the pullback of P can be regarded as a model of A_x . Then, each A_x is compatible with the universal family of abelian varieties on $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$ because its model is so. The other compatibility that the A_x are compatible with each other is reduced to this compatibility because for two log abelian varieties over a log regular base, an isomorphism between the restrictions to the open subset where the log structure is trivial uniquely extends over the whole base. The last fact is a consequence of the separability of our space proved in Section 8.

We prove that i is an isomorphism. Since it is formally an isomorphism, by the argument in [11] 5.4, we reduce to the two properties of our functor, that is, finiteness and uniqueness for GAGF. Both are valid as our functor is represented by Theorem 1.7 (cf. 9.1). Thus we complete the proof of Theorem 1.8.

Additionally, under the identification of their space and our space, which is just established, P is a model of our universal family because it is so formally around each point, also on $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$, and isomorphisms are glued since they are compatible on $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$.

9.4 REMARK. We explain the second method. By the argument of the second last paragraph of 9.3, it suffices to construct an appropriate family of log abelian varieties on $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{q,n}$. We construct it from P in 9.3 directly.

On $\overline{\mathcal{A}}_{g,n}$, there are semiabelian schemes G and G^t and the pairing $\underline{X}(G)$ ×

 $\underline{X}(G^t) \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m$ globally as in [5] Chapter III, Section 10. Hence the sheaf

$$Q := \mathcal{H}om(\overline{X}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\log}/\mathbb{G}_m)^{(\overline{Y})}/\overline{Y}$$

is defined globally, where $\overline{X} = \underline{X}(G)$ and $\overline{Y} = \underline{X}(G^t)$. The $\{\tau_{\beta}\}$ in 9.3 decides a subsheaf Σ' of Q coming from complete fans (cf. [14] 4.4).

Then P is a G-torsor over Σ' . This can be checked formally and reduces to the fact explained in 9.3 that P formally coincides with the model of our universal family. We construct a family of log abelian varieties from P. Below, we assume that Σ' comes from complete and wide fans and use the category equivalence Theorem 4.7 in [14]. The authors do not know if one can take such a $\{\tau_{\beta}\}$.

Under this assumption, it is enough to construct an object of the category \mathcal{B} in [14] Section 4 of the models and it is almost done in [5] except the construction of the partial group law $(P \times P)' \to P$, where $(P \times P)'$ is constructed in [5] Chapter VI as a compactification of the product of two copies of the universal abelian varieties. To give it, we start with the partial group law in formal situation. By GAGF, it induces a partial group law over the completion of each point of the base. Then, it is glued globally because it is compatible with the group law on the open subset $\mathcal{A}_{g,n}$. Thus we have an object of \mathcal{B} .

Corrections to former parts.

We gather several corrections to former parts in this series of papers.

C.1. We correct some errors of Part III ([11]) of this series of papers.

In [11] Definition 1.3 (2), we had to say that q and the exact sequence exist only étale locally, not necessarily exist globally. With the current definition, [11] Proposition 1.4 is false, though it would be valid with the corrected definition.

An example for which q exists only étale locally is as follows. Let L/K be an unramified extension of local fields of degree 2 and let q be an element of K such that $\operatorname{ord}_K(q) = 3$. Let E be the abelian sheaf over O_K (endowed with the canonical log structure) obtained by the descent from $\mathbb{G}_{m,\log}^{(q)}/q^{\mathbb{Z}}$ over O_L (endowed with the canonical log structure) with the descent data $x \mapsto x^{-1}$. Then "q" for this E does not exist globally. Thus, as for the sentence just after the proof of [11] Proposition 1.4, q is not uniquely determined by E, but uniquely determined up to sign by E.

In [11] 4.2, we should assume that q exists globally.

In [11] Section 5, we used the global existence of q in the proof. But both (1) and (2) in [11] 5.3 easily reduce to that case. Further, even this reduction is unnecessary in the case of $\Gamma(N)$ because, in that case, the existence of the level structure implies the global existence of q.

Additionally, in [11] 3.1, "local ring" and "field" are mistakes. The O_v in

there should be defined by that $\operatorname{Spf}(O_v)$ coincides with the formal completion of X(N) at the cusp v. The K_v should be defined by $K_v = O_v[1/q]$.

C.2. We correct several mutually related errors in Part IV ([12]) and in Part VI ([14]) of this series of papers. We thank H. Zhao for pointing out these errors.

In [12] Section 13.4, trivially, α_1 does not send C_0^{pol} (resp. C_0^{ptpol}) into C_1^{pol} (resp. C_1^{ptpol}), as is seen already in the case of log Tate curves. Thus the categories C_1^{pol} and C_1^{ptpol} in the current definition are too narrow and useless. We modify them as follows. First we replace "polarizable" in the second last line of [12] 13.3 by "formally polarizable" to modify the definition of $C_1^{\text{[pol]}}$. Similarly, in [12] 13.4, we modify the definition of C_1^{pol} as follows: C_1^{pol} should be the full subcategory of C_1 consisting of formally polarizable objects. We discard the category C_1^{ptpol} . Thus the diagram in [12] 13.4 would be as follows.

with the new $C_1^{[pol]}$ and C_1^{pol} .

In [12] 15.9, 3rd line, we replace "polarizable" by "formally polarizable."

In [12] 15.9, 5th line, we replace "a polarization" by "formally a polarization."

In the 8th line of the proof of [14] Theorem 3.6, we replace "a polarization" by "formally a polarization." Additionally, we give a complement that the equivalence in here of the positivity in the special fiber and the ampleness in the generic fiber can be seen by the rigid analytic method as in [3].

In the 3rd line of Proposition [14] 5.2 and in the 5th and the 6th lines of [14] 7.2, we replace "polarizable" by "formally polarizable."

In the second last line of [14] 7.2, C_1^{ptpol} should be C_1 . We had to say not "by Theorem 5.3" but "as shown similarly as in the proof of Theorem 5.3." (In the proof of [14] Theorem 5.3, we use only the formal polarizability.)

Finally, [14] 6.10 lacks the proof that the biextension is actually a polarization. This is reduced to [14] Theorem 3.6.

C.3. We correct a part of [13]. The exact sequence in the proof of [13] Proposition 12.8 (4) is not implied by its nonkét version. We suppress [13] Proposition 12.8 (4), [13] Remark 12.8.1 (1), [13] Lemma 12.9, and [13] Proposition 12.11. A part of them can be recovered by another method, which we will discuss in a forthcoming paper. They are not used for the proofs of the main results in [13] and the other part of [13] is valid (the part of the proof of [13] Lemma 12.9 used in [13] 12.12 is valid).

References

- [1] V. Alexeev, Complete moduli in the presence of semiabelian group action, Ann. of Math., (2) 155 (3) (2002), 611–708.
- [2] M. Artin, Algebraization of formal moduli: I, in *Global Analysis, Papers in Honor of K. Kodaira*, University of Tokyo Press, Princeton University Press, 21–71, 1969.
- [3] S. Bosch and W. Lütkebohmert, Degenerating abelian varieties, *Topology* **30** (4), (1991), 653–698.
- [4] A. J. de Jong et al., "Cohomology of algebraic spaces" in The Stacks Project, Chapter 68 (tag:071T), February 17, 2022, https://stacks.math.columbia.edu/download/spaces-cohomology.pdf
- 5] G. Faltings and C. Chai, *Degeneration of abelian varieties*, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete 3.Folge Band 22, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [6] K. Fujiwara, Arithmetic compactifications of Shimura varieties (I), preprint, 1990.
- [7] J.-I. Igusa, Theta functions, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, volume 194, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1972.
- [8] L. Illusie, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Quasi-unipotent logarithmic Riemann-Hilbert correspondences, J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, 12 (2005), 1–66.
- [9] T. Kajiwara, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Logarithmic abelian varieties, Part I: Complex analytic theory, J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, 15 (2008), 69–193.
- [10] T. Kajiwara, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Logarithmic abelian varieties, Part II. Algebraic theory, *Nagoya Math. J.*, **189** (2008), 63–138.
- [11] T. Kajiwara, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Logarithmic abelian varieties, III: Logarithmic elliptic curves and modular curves, *Nagoya Math. J.*, **210** (2013), 59–81.
- [12] T. Kajiwara, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Logarithmic abelian varieties, Part IV: Proper models, Nagoya Math. J., 219 (2015), 9–63.
- [13] T. Kajiwara, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Logarithmic abelian varieties, Part V: Projective models, *Yokohama Math. J.*, **64** (2018), 21–82.
- [14] T. Kajiwara, K. Kato, and C. Nakayama, Logarithmic abelian varieties, Part VI: Local moduli and GAGF, *Yokohama Math. J.*, **65** (2019), 53–75.
- [15] K. Kato, Logarithmic structures of Fontaine-Illusie, In: Algebraic analysis, geometry, and number theory (Baltimore, MD, 1988), Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, Baltimore, MD, 1989, 191–224.
- [16] K. Kato, Logarithmic structures of Fontaine-Illusie. II Logarithmic flat topology, Tokyo J. Math. 44 (1), (2021), 125–155.
- [17] G. Kempf, F. Knudsen, D. Mumford, and B. Saint-Donat, *Toroidal embeddings I*, Lecture Notes in Math. 339, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973.
- [18] K.-W. Lan, Arithmetic compactifications of PEL-type Shimura varieties, London Math. Soc. Monogr. Ser., 36, Princeton University Press, 2013.
- [19] S. Mochizuki, The Hodge-Arakelov theory of elliptic curves: Global discretization of local Hodge theories, RIMS Preprint 1255, 1256, preprint, 1999.
- [20] D. Mumford, Abelian varieties, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1970.
- [21] I. Nakamura, Stability of degenerate abelian varieties, Invent. Math., 136 (1999), 659–715.
- [22] Y. Namikawa, Toroidal compactification of Siegel spaces, Lecture Notes in Math. 812, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1980.
- [23] M. C. Olsson, Logarithmic geometry and algebraic stacks, Ann. Scient. Éc. Norm. Sup.,

4^e série, **36** (2003), 747–791.

[24] M. C. Olsson, Compactifying moduli spaces for abelian varieties, Lecture Notes in Math. 1958, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008.

Takeshi Kajiwara
Department of Applied mathematics
Faculty of Engineering
Yokohama National University
Hodogaya-ku, Yokohama 240-8501
Japan
E-mail address: kajiwara@ynu.ac.jp

Kazuya Kato Department of Mathematics University of Chicago 5734 S. University Avenue Chicago, Illinois, 60637 USA

E-mail address: kkato@math.uchicago.edu

Chikara Nakayama
Department of Economics
Hitotsubashi University
2-1 Naka, Kunitachi, Tokyo 186-8601
Japan
E-mail address: c.nakayama@r.hit-u.ac.jp